
   
 

 

Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service Headquarters, Bridle Road, Bootle, Merseyside L30 4YD Fax: 0151 296 4144 
Legal Services 0151 296 4122, Democratic Services: 0151 296 4112 

 

 

To: All Members of the Community Safety and 
Protection Committee 
(and any other Members who may wish to attend) 
 
 
 
The Protocol and Procedure for visitors attending meetings 
of Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority can be found by 
clicking here or on the Authority’s website: 
http://www.merseyfire.gov.uk     -   About Us > Fire Authority. 

 
J. Henshaw 
LLB (Hons) 
Clerk to the Authority 
 
 
Tel: 0151 296 4000 
Extn: 4113 Kelly Kellaway 

  
  
 
Your ref:  Our ref   HP/NP Date: 28 August 2017 
 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, 

 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the COMMUNITY SAFETY AND 

PROTECTION COMMITTEE to be held at 1.00 pm on TUESDAY, 5TH 

SEPTEMBER, 2017 in the Liverpool Suite at Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service 

Headquarters, Bridle Road, Bootle. 

 

Yours faithfully, 

 
Clerk to the Authority 

 
 
Encl. 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 
 



 

 

MERSEYSIDE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY AND PROTECTION COMMITTEE 
 

5 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

AGENDA 
 

Members 

 

Jean Stapleton (Chair) 
Marianne Welsh 
Denise Allen,  
Peter Brennan 
Janet Grace 
Brian Kenny 
Chris Meaden 
Paul Tweed 
 

 
 

1. Preliminary matters  

 Members are requested to consider the identification of: 
 

a) declarations of interest by individual Members in relation to any item 
of business on the Agenda 

 
b) any additional items of business which the Chair has determined 

should be considered as matters of urgency; and 
 

c) items of business which may require the exclusion of the press and 
public during consideration thereof because of the possibility of the 
disclosure of exempt information. 

 
 
 

2. Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 10) 

 The Minutes of the Previous Meeting, held on 6th October 2016, are 
submitted for approval as a correct record and for signature by the 
committee chair.  
 
 

3. SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN UPDATE APR-JUNE 2017 (Pages 11 - 64) 

 To consider Report CFO/055/17 of the Deputy Chief Fire Officer, 
concerning scrutiny of performance against the Service objectives and the 
performance targets/ outcomes as set out in the Service Delivery Plan 
2017/18 for the period April to June 2017.  
 
 



 

 

4. APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR (Pages 65 - 78) 

 To consider Report CFO/062/17 of the Treasurer, concerning the use of 
the LGA’s Public Sector Auditor Appointment Limited (PSAA) as the 
Authority’s ‘appointing person’ for external audit services for 2018/19 and 
future years (CFO/009/17). This report advises Members of the outcome of 
the PSAA procurement exercise and proposal to appoint Grant Thornton 
(existing Auditor) as MFRA auditor for five years from 2018/19. 
 
 
 

5. MANAGEMENT OF ROAD RISK - IMPACT OF THE 2017 FINANCE ACT 
(Pages 79 - 82) 

 To consider Report CFO/063/17 of the Chief Fire Officer, concerning the 
impact of the Finance Act 2017 on the current operational flexi duty staff 
lease car arrangements and the potential need to establish alternative 
vehicle arrangements in order to manage the road risk for senior officers 
when responding under blue lights.  
 
 

6. Award of Regional Contract For Fire Helmets (Pages 83 - 86) 

 To consider Report CFO/056/17 of the Chief Fire Officer, concerning 
completion of the North West tender process for the replacement of fire 
helmets and approval to award contract to the preferred bidder.  
 
This Report contains EXEMPT information by virtue of Paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
 

 
 

----------------------------------- 
If any Members have queries, comments or require additional information relating to any 

item on the agenda please contact Committee Services and we will endeavour to provide the 

information you require for the meeting. Of course this does not affect the right of any 

Member to raise questions in the meeting itself but it may assist Members in their 

consideration of an item if additional information is available. 

 
Refreshments 

 

Any Members attending on Authority business straight from work or for long periods of time, 

and require a sandwich, please contact Democratic Services, prior to your arrival, for 

arrangements to be made. 

 



MERSEYSIDE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY AND PROTECTION COMMITTEE 
 

6 OCTOBER 2016 
 

MINUTES 
 
Present: Cllr Linda Maloney (Chair) Councillors Denise Allen, 

Janet Grace, Brian Kenny, Chris Meaden and 
Marianne Welsh 

  
Also Present:   Les Byrom 
  
 Apologies of absence were received from: Cllr 

Peter Brennan and Cllr Paul Tweed  
 

7. Chair's Announcement  
 
Prior to the commencement of the meeting the Chair confirmed to all present 
that the proceedings of the meeting would not be filmed. 
 

1. Preliminary matters  
 
Members considered the identification of declarations of interest, any urgent 
additional items, and any business that may require the exclusion of the press 
and public and  
 
Resolved that: 
 

a) no declarations of interest were made by individual Members in relation 
to any item of business on the Agenda 

 
b) no additional items of business to be considered as matters of urgency 

were determined by the Chair; and 
 

c) no items of business required the exclusion of the press and public 
during consideration thereof because of the possibility of the disclosure of 
exempt information. 

 
2. Minutes of the Previous Meeting  

 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on the 19th July 2016 were agreed as 
a correct record and signed accordingly by the Chair.  
 

3. SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN 2016-17 APRIL TO JULY UPDATE  
 
Members considered report CFO/072/16 of the Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
concerning scrutiny of the performance against Service objectives and the 
performance targets/outcomes as set out in the Service Delivery Plan 2016/17 
for the period April to July 2016. 

Agenda Item 2

Page 5



 
A presentation was delivered to Members by the IRMP Officer, which provided 
an overview of the progress against Service Delivery Plan and Functional Plan 
action points; and Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) against the outcome 
targets.  
 
Members were informed that MFRS had attended an increased number of 
incidents in comparison to the same period the previous year, however the 
number of primary and secondary fires had decreased.  A peak in incidents had 
been observed during May, which may be accounted for by grassland fires.   
 
In relation to the Attendance Standard of the first appliance attending incidents 
within 10 minutes, the performance was better than target with an actual 
achievement of 96.4%   
 
Other Performance Indicators where performance was better than target 
include: Fire Control answering 999 calls within 10 seconds; alert to mobile 
within 1.9 minutes; and the amount of CO2 emissions per m

2. 
 
Long term sickness reduced by over 50%, with performance being better than 
target.  However, an increase had been observed in short term sickness 
absence, with causes and solutions being investigated. 
 
Performance in relation to Accidental Dwelling Fires for the period was good, 
with a reduction observed in the total number of Accidental Dwelling Fires, the 
number of injuries resulting from Accidental Dwelling Fires, and no fatalities to 
date. 
 
There were 190 deliberate vehicle fires (DVF) (motorcycles accounting for 63) 
which is an increase upon the previous year but still within 10% of the target.  In 
July alone there were 48 DVF’s, 20 of which involved motorcycles.   
 
Attendance at false alarms was within 10% of target when discounting false 
alarms with good intent. 
 
Attendance at special calls, such as road traffic accidents (RTAs), flooding, 
animal assistance and effecting entry/exit, had risen from 841 last year to 972 
for the same period this year, resulting in the target being exceeded.  The 
largest proportion of these incidents were RTAs. 
 
Members requested information with regard to the significant reduction in long 
term sickness and were informed that this was due to robust case management 
from Occupational Health and the introduction of the Capability Policy 
supporting employees back into the workplace.  However Officers were aware 
short term sickness absence requires closer management. 
 
There was discussion over referrals received from Merseyside Police, the 
protocol around helping individuals locked out of their property and the increase 
in Special Service Calls. 
 

Page 6



More detailed information was provided to Members with regard to Special 
Service Calls and collaborative working with the Police on effecting entry to 
property. It was confirmed that the figure for Special Service Calls was not 
necessarily concerning as it highlights the important work that the Fire and 
Rescue Service (FRS) does in the community, the continuing relevance of the 
FRS, the need for continued funding and our support of the Joint Emergency 
Services Principles. 
 
With regard to attendance at Automatic Fire Alarms (AFA) Members were 
reminded of the recent change in policy from responding to all AFA’s, to 
responding only if there was a life risk – hence the response to Sheltered 
Housing.  The initial significant fall in attendance has levelled out, as would be 
expected, but work has been ongoing through Community Risk Management 
teams with the owners of domestic premises with AFA’s to educate them to 
manage their alarm systems.  
 
Discussion took place on the possibility of charging for call outs to false AFA’s, 
lock outs and Road Traffic Accidents.  However Members were informed that 
there could be a risk with this strategy by deterring calls to life risk incidents. 
  
Members then raised the importance of lobbying parliament in order to be 
allowed to find new ways of raising income, for example as the Ambulance 
Service are allowed to reclaim costs of attending RTA’s from insurance 
companies. 
 
Members thanked officers for the report. 
 
Members resolved that: 
 

a) The contents of the report be noted 
 
 
 
 

4. SAfER information sharing project update  
 
Members considered report CFO/074/16 of the Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
concerning, the contribution of Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority to the 
national Chief Fire Officers Association Information Sharing Project, “Sustained 
Action for Elderly Risk” (SAfER). 
 
Members were informed that Merseyside and Cheshire FRS’s have access to 
NHS data on over 65’s, in order to focus preventative services to this group of 
people.  MFRS were successful in receiving funding for this project from the Fire 
and Rescue Service Research and Training Trust. 
 
MFRS has aided other Fire and Rescue Services nationally to obtain this NHS 
data in order to change fire and rescue provision nationally.  Reassurance was 
given to Members that the data is kept and distributed securely. 
 

Page 7



Thanks were offered to the Strategy and Performance Directorate for their work 
on this project. 
 
Members resolved that: 
 

a) The content of the report be noted. 
 
 
 

5. Defence Employer Recognition Scheme  
 
Members considered report CFO/076/16 of the Chief Fire Officer, concerning 
MFRA’s active participation in supporting the Defence Employer Recognition 
Scheme. 
 
Members were informed regarding the Defence Employer Recognition Scheme 
Bronze Award.  The Award, which was displayed, had been received for 
pledging, demonstrating and advocating support for defence and the armed 
forces community.   
 
Members were made aware of the commitment of MFRS to this pledge and the 
intention of working towards the silver and gold awards. 
 
Staff were thanked for their work in obtaining the bronze award. 
 
Members resolved that: 
 

a) The content of the report be noted and support be given for future 
applications for silver and gold awards. 

 
 
 
 

6. Safe and Well Pilot Scheme  
 
Members considered report CFO/073/16 of the Deputy Chief Fire Officer, 
concerning the proposal to pilot the Safe and Well scheme in Merseyside in 
order to demonstrate and evaluate the impact of such activity and to inform 
future undertakings and/or commissioning. 
 
Members were reminded of the historical background to the delivery of Home 
Fire Safety Checks (HFSC’s) and how these visits can evolve into Safe and 
Well (S&W). 
 
The priorities and focus of the S&W visits were highlighted to Members 
informing them that the S&W visits have been promoted to the Health and 
Wellbeing Boards as being an assistance to all areas of the public sector 
particularly in relation to health care. 
 
A pilot scheme was recommended in order to ensure that MFRS will not be 
overwhelmed by referrals and in order to ensure that crews are fully trained.  

Page 8



The results of the pilot scheme will be brought back to Members at a future 
date. 
 
There was discussion around the morale of the staff that will be involved in the 
S&W pilot; and acknowledgment was made of the success of the introduction of 
HFSC’s in the past, which increased the value and relevance of MFRS in the 
community and helped save lives. 
 
The NHS have been asked to commission MFRS to deliver S&W visits which 
will not only reach the vulnerable and ensure that the service can continue to 
deliver on HFSC’s, but may also bring in a financial benefit to the F&RS and the 
NHS. 
 
Members resolved that: 
 

a) The proposals outlined in the report in relation to the implementation and 
evaluation of a “Safe and Well” pilot scheme be supported and approved.   
 

b) A report on the results of the Safe and Well Pilot Scheme will be brought 
back to Members in the future. 

 
 
 
 
Close 
 
Date of next meeting Tuesday, 5 September 2017 
 
 
 
Signed:_____________________   Date:______________ 
 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



MERSEYSIDE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 
 

MEETING OF THE: COMMUNITY SAFETY AND PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

DATE: 5 SEPTEMBER 2017 REPORT NO: CFO/055/17 

PRESENTING 
OFFICER 

DEPUTY CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

DEB APPLETON  
 

REPORT 
AUTHOR: 

JACKIE 
SUTTON 

OFFICERS 
CONSULTED: 

STARTEGIC MANAGEMENT GROUP 

TITLE OF REPORT: SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN UPDATE APR-JUNE 2017 

 

APPENDICES: APPENDIX A:  
APPENDIX B: 

FUNCTIONAL PLAN UPDATES 
KPI UPDATES 

 
 

Purpose of Report 

 
1. To request that Members scrutinise performance against the Service objectives 

and the performance targets/outcomes as set out in the Service Delivery Plan 
2017/18 for the period April to June 2017.  

 

Recommendation 

 

2. That Members approve the attached reports for publication on the Service 
website. 
 

Introduction and Background 

 
3. The 2017/18 planning process began in January 2017.  The process 

considered organisational risk, legislation, financial constraints and consultation 
outcomes to create innovative and value for money initiatives in order to inform 
the IRMP and Service Delivery Plan. 

 
4. The April to June Service Delivery Plan Performance Report for 2017/18 is the 

document that reports and updates on the Functional Plan action points and 
Key/Benchmark Performance Indicators against the targets that were approved 
by Members in March 2017. 

 
5. Reporting is provided on a regular basis to Members through the Authority’s 

Committees. 
 
 
 
 

Performance Indicators 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 11



6. In March 2017 a full annual review of performance indicators and their 
relevance was carried out.  It was agreed Performance measures would 
continue to be grouped in the following way: 
 

• Benchmark/Key Indicators – key summary performance indicators to 
measure how MFRA is performing.  A number of these indicators are  

• Service Plan outcomes - Key Performance Indicators  

• Tier 1 Outputs – contributory outcomes and Local Performance 
Indicators 

• Tier 2 – Output - Local Performance Indicators  
 
7. Performance indicators have been grouped according to incident type: 

• Dwelling fire  

• Non domestic property fire  

• Anti-social behaviour and other fire  

• Road traffic collisions 

• Special Service 

• Fire alarms 

• Staff welfare, risks and competency 

• Energy and the environment 
 

8. This report focuses on the Benchmark Performance Indicators underpinned by 
the key and local performance indicators to illustrate and inform as required. 

 
9. The format has been designed to give a clear illustration of how the Service is 

performing against Key Performance Indicators which are grouped together 
e.g. dwelling fire related indicators are influenced by the Community Risk 
Management measures we put in place so this group includes measurement of 
the number of Home Fire Safety Checks we deliver and especially to those 
most at risk, which we have recognised are the over 65’s.   

 
10. The PI’s are monitored and scrutinised each month through the Performance 

Management Group which is an internal meeting of Area Managers, Directors 
and relevant Functional managers.  The group is chaired by the Deputy Chief 
Fire Officer.  Exceptions and areas of poor performance are highlighted and 
action plans put into place as appropriate. 
 

11. All performance for April to June 2017 is covered in detail in the appendices to 
this report.    

 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

 
12. Equality and Diversity actions form part of the Service Delivery Plan and each 

action is equally impact assessed as appropriate. Performance against Equality 
Objectives is included in the twice yearly Equality and Diversity update reports 
that are submitted to this Committee 

 

Staff Implications 

 

Page 12



13. There are no direct staffing implications contained within this report. 
Performance is discussed with a number of staff during the planning process 
and reporting periods, and those staff provide updates and put in place 
strategies and plans for performance improvement where required.  
 

14. The Service has adopted a new methodology for setting performance targets 
for stations and station staff have been involved in that process. 
 

Legal Implications 

 
15. There are no direct legal implications contained within this report. 
 

Financial Implications & Value for Money 

 
16. It is the aim of the majority of objectives to provide the same or an improved 

level of service for the same or a reduced cost. 
 

17. Initiatives where there are cost implications have been approved by the 
Authority and they are monitored closely through the project management 
process. 
 

Risk Management, Health & Safety, and Environmental Implications 

 
18. Consideration of Health and Safety, the environment and successful risk 

management is paramount in project managing all of the IRMP and Service 
Delivery Plan actions 
 

Contribution to Our Mission: Safer Stronger Communities – Safe Effective Firefighters 

 
19. The Service Delivery Plan is the primary method by which the Authority delivers 

its objectives in order to achieve its Mission. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

  
 CFO/111/11 
 

 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

  
   
 
 

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN 2017-18 

April - June 2017 Report 

 

P
age 15



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

1 

 

SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN – 2017-18 ACTION PLAN: 

OPERATIONAL PREPAREDNESS:  

FP-17/18-1.1 –  OPERATIONAL PLANNING 

As lead authority for National Resilience develop a structure to support the provision  

of National Resilience Training and maintain links with the National Resilience  

Assurance Team (NRAT).    

 

Actions:  

• Embed FRS National Co-ordination Centre into Merseyside FRS Fire Control. 

• Review and develop and revised NR training programme 

• Review support of NRAT 

  

Transition to National Resilience Fire Control took place 31/3/2017. 

Changes are now fully embedded and quarterly meetings to review on-

going development and workload are scheduled. National Resilience 

training delivery via a sector led model is being established. National Fire 

Chief’s Council (NFCC) have agreed key principles to underpin this. A 

National Resilience Training Working Group has been established. First 

courses using the first model has been delivered. 12 month review of 

National Resilience Assurance Team (NRAT) support to be reviewed Q2 

2017 

 

FRS National Coordination Centre is now embedded into MFRS Control. 

Validation exercises have been completed and an ongoing schedule of 

training is being developed. 
 

FP-17/18-1.2 

Review and continue implementation of the Standard Operational Procedures (SOP) in line 

with National Operational Guidance (NOG) as part of regional collaboration and support 

the ongoing development of further NOG   

 

Actions: 

• Produce updated suite of SOPs in line with the NOG 

• Consultation 

• Gap analysis with existing SOPS  

• Scheme of work to develop training package   

 

New suite of SOP’s based on NOG continues to be developed and 

produced. Fires suite is now concluded, transport will be completed in the 

near future prior to going out to consultation and gap analysis with 

existing SOP’s. This will determine future training requirements. 

FP-17/18-1.3 

To carry out a full review of the current operational risk information including MFRS  

Site Specific Risk Information (SSRI) procedure and amend or replace as necessary 

 

Actions: 

• Commence development with  an ‘in house’ build  

• Deliver the necessary training to all personnel. 

• Introduce operational risk information including new SSRI procedures. 

 

 

 

 

Work is ongoing in developing the in house application and identifying 

training requirements prior to delivery and embedding of new Operational 

Risk Information structure. 

P
age 16



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

2 

 

FP-17/18-1.4  

Resilience arrangements to support TCG and SCG during large scale /significant incidents   

 

Actions: 

• Review options to provide support to TCG and SCG including out of hours provision. 

The development of a Multi Agency Information Cell, as detailed in JESIP doctrine, 

requires incorporating into this piece of work 

• Review resilience arrangements and structure of Fire control. 

• Options report to AM Ops Preparedness including any budget implications. 

Three month trial to commence looking at a Watch Manager being 

available out of hours to support Tactical Command Group 

(TCG)/Strategic Command Group (SCG).  

Multi Agency Information Cell (MAIC) is a piece of work being led by 

Merseyside Police through Merseyside Resilience Forum, which MFRS will 

support. 

Fire Control has recruited 4 new members of staff and Senior Officer 

training is on-going to deliver resilience for Fire Control during initial 

National Resilience incidents prior to arrival of National Resilience 

Assurance Team (NRAT) in Lead Authority Joint Control Centre 

Operations Room. 
 

FP-17/18-1.5 

Develop TDA and Croxteth sites 

 

Actions: 

• Survey sites 

• Identify options for the core training delivery model 

• Secure budget 

• Options Report to AM and then SMG 

• Work to commence 

 

Several meetings with Architects have taken place. A scoping document 

and technical report have been produced with outline requirements for 

the site development contained therein. Site surveys have been 

undertaken to ascertain suitability of ground adjacent to Croxteth Fire 

Station for the proposed provision of an additional floor over the existing 

annex structure. Proposed plans have been provided by the architect for 

review by relevant stakeholders with a view to establishing a project 

team to oversee and manage this workstream. Capital funds have been 

secured.  

  

Alternative training delivery options have been previously submitted to 

Strategic Management Group but these have been rejected. 

 

FP-17/18-1.6 

Review specialist support appliances and modules to create efficiency and reduce fleet size.  

In partnership with Ops Response Directorate 

 

Actions: 

• Review current fleet 

• Identify where efficiencies can be made or additional needs identified in  

• consultation with Operational Improvement Group/Operational Scrutiny 

• Design and procure or adapt suitable delivery systems be it appliances or modules 

• Secure or identify budget if required for AM Searle 

• Prioritise Projects 

• Assign Project Lead and manage delivery 

 

Current fleet has been reviewed and this will be an ongoing process, 

some efficiencies have been identified and as such one hose layer has 

been removed and sold to Lancashire FRS.  We are currently bollarding 

and designing a revised Hazmat and Environmental Protection Pod 

combining the two into one. Two Station Managers have been asked to 

work with the Operational Equipment Team to deliver. Further projects 

will follow such as a possible rationalising of Bulk Foam once current 

projects are delivered. 

 

Fleet and equipment provision are reported into Operational 

Improvement Group.  This project will take a number of years to deliver 

in fact it should always be in process as technology and fleet 

improvements are realised. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 17



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

3 

 

FP-18/18-1.7 

Cross Directorate Review of Operational PPE and Support Staff Uniform  

 

Actions: 

• Review options of new uniform under the National Procurement arrangement 

• Conduct user trials 

• Agree options report  

• Seek approval from Strategic Management Group  

• Establish a procurement strategy including tender process, and appointment of 

preferred supplier 

 

This is on-going and will continue awaiting Strategic Management Group 

determination. A number of operational day wear options have been 

suggested and a survey will be sent to all operational staff. 

FP-17/18-1.8 

Create a mobile logistics/welfare system available for deployment   

 

Actions: 

• Review current arrangements of welfare, logistics, equipment and PPE support at  

• incidents 

• Create a dedicated vehicle to house the appropriate resources. 

• Arrange staffing of the vehicle and deployment process 

• Vehicle adapted or procured  

• Staff contracts agreed and signed 

 

 

 

This is on-going and is to continue awaiting release of National Resilience 

asset. Welfare unit specification in progress 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 18



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

4 

 

OPERATIONAL RESPONSE:   

FP-17/18-2.1- 

Evaluate and Review the organisational and individual risk posed by Staff working different 

shift patterns. 

 

Actions: 

• Utilising the agreed fatigue management system, consider all existing operational 

duty patterns in terms of organisational and individual risk. 

• Use information to review shift patterns and work routines on operational fire 

stations. 

The review has been captured within the Working Party and with the 

Representative Bodies, with a joint decision taken to end the trial of the 

24 hour working pattern.  Work continues to consider all other shift 

patterns currently in use within the Service. 

FP-17/18-2.2 

Undertake a review of the current Management of Occupational Road Risk processes in line 

with legislation and UKFRS guidance 

 

Actions: 

• Review Management of Operational Road Risk SI. 

• Meet stakeholders to gauge opinion on the management of MORR. 

• Review feedback and amend MORR SI. 

• Implement findings with stakeholder and engagement and communicate to staff. 

 

A first draft of the Management of Occupational Road Risk (MORR) 

document in expected to be delivered in September 2017 and 

collaboration between all relevant departments is continuing to ensure 

the document captures all pertinent information. 

FP-17/18-2.3- 

Involvement in the National Operational Learning Project to develop, trial and review the 

Bow Tie Risk Assessment methodology with a view to implementation into MFRS Standard 

Operating Procedures. 

 

Actions: 

• Embed representative on the NOL working party to develop the Bow Tie Risk 

Assessment methodology. 

• Link learning and liaise with OPRT to ensure Bow Tie development underpins the 

revised SOP’s. 

Representatives of the Operational Assurance Team have provided 

regular observations into the trial software which is shared nationally.  

The Team have also attended regular review meetings with the other trial 

Services to ensure the Pilot progresses. 

FP-17/18-2.4- 

Research and develop an interactive Analytical Risk Assessment template capable of  

being completed electronically. 

 

Actions: 

• Utilise learning from the NOL Bow Tie Project to explore development of an 

electronic ARA. 

• Liaise with Applications Development Team and interrogate suitable platform to 

provide remote access for operational personnel to an electronic ARA. 

 

An Application Request Form has been submitted to the Software 

Development Governance Group and a Business Case is being created for 

an electronic Analytical Risk Assessment (ARA) application.  This will 

result in going to market to identify the best solution. 

 

In the interim the current ARA procedure and supporting documentation 

is being reviewed and updated to simplify the process for the user.  This 

work will be a hard copy version of what the electronic ARA will achieve. 

P
age 19



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

5 

 

FP-17/18-2.5- 

Build on the feedback from the 2016 Staff Survey and our Service aim ‘Excellent People 

 

Actions: 

• Introduction of a development role for potential Operational Response Managers 

• Increased visibility and access to Station Managers 

• Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) USER Forums. 

• Build upon positive outcomes of 2016 staff survey to improve culture and trust 

 

• A temporary Crew Manager development (T/CMD) role has now been 

implemented. A robust mechanism is in place for the disposition, 

training and progression for all T/CMD. Feedback is solicited directly 

from participants which is used to influence and direct future T/CMD 

positions. 

• Station Managers are encouraged to be active on station and audit 

each other’s watches to ensure a consistent level of competency is 

achieved. 

• Operational Equipment share future developments and research 

opportunities directly with the Group Manager operational response to 

ensure that new equipment is tested at appropriate locations. Station 

Managers directly engaged with all Watch Managers as part of the 

2017/18 Station Planning process. 

• To carry out a series of staff engagement sessions with a small cohort 

of operational staff to evaluate workplace culture, value & recognition 

and communication further through a facilitated approach. To gather 

the learning from the engagement sessions and carry out analysis. 

Using the engagement sessions, further develop a variety of taster 

activities to help provide a different insight into what supports a 

healthy, happy and inclusive workplace culture, using different 

methods of development and learning styles around a number of key 

themes and subjects. To deliver the taster activities to a range of 

station staff during 2017/18 on a regular basis. To evaluate those 

activities to help develop a workplace learning programme  to 

implement across Operational Response staff and potentially the rest 

of the organisation at a later date   
 

FP-17/18-2.6- 

Continue to support and develop a greater understanding and awareness of Equality and 

Diversity and support our Equality and Diversity Plan 

 

Actions: 

• Contributing to and supporting the ‘Knowing our Communities’ plan. 

• Direct engagement of Station Managers with the Service Diversity Manager 

o Peripatetic awareness training of Station personnel  

o Supporting the Community Forums 

 

With the recent re-establishment of the ‘Knowing Our Communities’ 

group the Group Manager for Operational Response will be a standing 

member of the group. 

FP-17/18-2.7 

Manage the performance outputs of each Fire Station to support our Service aim ‘Excellent 

Protection and Prevention’ and ‘Excellent Operational Preparedness’ 

 

Actions: 

Operational Crews continue to deliver Functional deliverables on behalf of 

Community Risk Management and Operational Preparedness. Targets for 

deliverables are monitored and success is demonstrable by the reduction 

in fire death and injuries across Merseyside. 

 

P
age 20



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

6 

 

• Understanding the Functional Delivery Plans of different departments and how 

Operational Response Staff and their activities contribute to those plans. Including; 

Community Risk Management and Operational Preparedness. 

• Supported themed activity throughout the year i.e. Business Safety Week 

• Work with other departments to identify and provide solutions to emerging threats 

or risk critical themes i.e. Water Safety 

• Ensuring effective and efficient working practices 

 

Operational Crews support pre-planned and dynamic campaigns, most 

recently following the Grenfell Tower incident through high rise 

campaigns. 

FP-17/18-2.8- 

Continue to build commitment to our Service aim ‘Excellent Operational Response 

 

Actions: 

• Continuing to carry out operational performances audits 

• Reviewing the disposition and staffing of appliances 

• Scrutinising and challenging mobilizing and attendance times 

• Working in partnership with other Category 1 and Category 2 Responders 

 

Operational Response continue to deliver Emergency Medical Response 

(EMR) from three MFRS locations across Merseyside. A recent Hot News 

article highlighted the positive impact this scheme has on the 

communities of Merseyside.  

 

The cross-body working party considers staffing across MFRS in the 

context of Response and Health and Safety.  

 

Mobilising and attendance times continue to be reviewed and scrutinised 

with poor performance being directly managed by local Station Managers. 
 

FP-17/18-2.9- 

Develop a business case for the planned phase 3 developments of StARS including the 

introduction of self-rostering duty systems into the application and implement changes 

subject to approval of the business case 

Actions: 

• In partnership with finance develop a business case to support the progression of 

phase 3 developments of StARS as initially outlined in the original project plan 

• Improve the effectiveness of both TRM and station working practices utilising the 

increased sophistication offered by StARS. 

StARS phase 2B has been signed off and delivered into live in Qtr 1. Qtr 2 

will see the new functionality rolled out to station along with subsequent 

changes to Time and Resource Management (TRM) working. 

 

With the recent agreement to end the trial of 24 hour working at eight 

locations the scope of phase 3 work will be reviewed due to the inclusion 

of self-rostering functionality within this work. 

FP-17/18-2.10- 

Introduce the required structural changes as detailed in IRMP 2017-20 including day 

crewing whole-time retained working at a further 2 locations 

Actions 

• Implement Day crewing whole-time retained working at two further locations in line 

with the structured development plan for the recruit fire-fighters 

• Manage the large scale staff movements associated with changing station duty 

systems 

• Consider the implications of further planned structural changes detailed within IRMP 

2017/18. 

• Consider future duty system options for Operational Response for beyond 2020 and 

the period of the current IRMP. 

 

Work continues towards to the introduction of day crewed wholetime 

retained (DCWTR) at two further locations with the expectation that 

conversion from wholetime will take place in Qtr 4 to coincide with the 

pass out of recruits from courses 1-2017. 

 

High level work has been completed on a potential option for an alternate 

24/7 duty system post 2020. This work will complement and be 

considered as part of the wider response planning work that will be 

undertaken as part of IRMP 2020-23 

P
age 21



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

7 

 

FP-17/18-2.11- 

In conjunction with Service Delivery review the performance of our current Whole-time 

retained working and implement changes as necessary to improve performance 

Actions 

• Review performance in light of the revised process for carrying kit that forms part of 

the proposed single payment for detached duties agreement 

• Consider the use of alternate notification devices to replace the existing mobiles 

phones used for operational recall in Whole-time retained. 

Consultations with representative bodies are continuing over the revised 

process for transportation of fire kit and personal protective equipment 

(PPE) as part of the proposed single payment agreement. 

 

The work exploring alternate notification devices in ongoing however the 

scope has been amended following the agreement to cease the trial of 24 

hour wholetime retained (24HRWTR) at eight stations. 

FP-17/18-2.12- 

During 2016/17 we were unable to undertake a benchmarking exercise to evaluate our TRM, H&S and 

Service Delivery models, structure and performance in comparison to our peers. This important task 

will be prioritised in 2017/18 to ensure we are utilising 

our resources in the most effective and efficient manner. 

Actions: 

• Consider the role and remit of the three Operational Response Teams to ensure the 

function is structured to meet the changing needs of Operational Response 

• Consider appropriate bench marking  for the Operational Response teams against 

other FRS’s and where possible other blue light organisations 

• Continue to build resilience in Operational response as part of ongoing succession 

planning 

Operational Response benchmarking is planned to commence in Qtr 3, 

with visits to peer Fire and Rescue Services and blue light partners 

undertaken if necessary and required. 

 

All three teams within Response continue to build resilience as part of 

succession planning with specific project work used to develop staff 

within the departments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 22



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

8 

 

PEOPLE & ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT:    

FP-17/18-3.1- 

To continue to deliver a comprehensive workforce strategy 

Actions: 

• Develop an organisational Positive action strategy 

• Comprehensive recruitment process 

• Revised Transfer in policy 

• Consider appropriate Firefighter Apprenticeship scheme, whilst expanding across 

other roles within the organisation 

• Revised  firefighter training course 

• To deliver a Gateway process and identify future leaders in both Grey Book and 

Green Book positions, building in career development reviews 

 

 

Positive work continues to build the Workforce strategy 

• Positive action strategy has seen an increase in applications from 

underrepresented groups for firefighter positions, and the delivery 

of a high quality recruit course 

• The Transfer in protocol has again seen the appointment of highly 

regarded external Watch Managers to support our current 

establishment 

• We continue to develop the Authority involvement in the 

Apprenticeship Scheme, and look now to expand the utilisation of 

the Levy to support further internal development. 

The Gateway process, has a 12 month schedule that will meet the 

demands of the organisational succession planning process, and support 

employee development and advancement. 
 

FP-17/18-3.2- 

To evaluate organisational roles and grades against delivery requirements 

Actions: 

• To evaluate the grey book roles and produce suitably graded Merseyside specific Job 

descriptions 

• To evaluate the role and function of grey book positions and validate the job 

description and grade 

• To evaluate all roles and grades to ensure posts are employed within the most 

appropriate terms and conditions of employment 

 

Transparent assessment processes are in place for Green and Grey book 

roles. Work is now being undertaken to review locally determined roles 

and grade structures to ensure organisational continuity.  This will be 

delivered in conjunction with the equality audits for Pay. 

FP-17/18-3.3- 

To continue to introduce flexible contracts and working 

Actions: 

• To continue to review the implementation of   24 hour working with combined whole 

time contracts 

• To consider the expansion of day related contracts to support organisational change. 

• To consider additional contract revision to maximise operational availability within 

budget constraints 

 

Work has been completed to introduce flexible contracts for maximum 

service delivery. However issues associated with the Grenfell disaster has 

brought the requirement to review the viability of the 24 hour duty 

system and to revert employees back to 12 hour shifts pending further 

work by the Duty System working group. 

FP/17/18/3.4- 

To deliver a support staff review 

Actions: 

• To undertake an organisational review and implement revised structures with a view 

to efficiency and active response 

• To consider all collaborative options for work with both Merseyside Police, and other 

 

Due to budget management this has not been a requirement prior to 

April 2017. However changes to the budget now requires the potential 

need to review Green book roles. 

P
age 23



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

9 

 

partner organisations that improve efficiency and service delivery across all 

designated areas 

FP/17/18/3.5- 

To continue to develop a range of strategies to improve fitness and well being 

 

Actions: 

• To deliver mental health first aid course to all staff 

• To introduce a range of fitness initiatives to promote and support health and 

wellbeing  

• Introduction and validation of new fitness standards across all areas 

• To develop collaboration with other Fire and Rescue Services and local authorities 

 

MENTAL HEALTH FIRST AID: 

Occupational Health Team have commenced the roll out of Mental Health 

First Aid Lite (MHFA)course to all operational staff based on Stations. We 

have completed the course for over 160 operational staff and are 

currently planning the dates with the objective of completing all Station 

staff by the end of 2017, with courses from October to December. This 

will be subject to securing the availability of the Service MHFA 

Instructors, and this may require us running a limited number of courses 

in early 2018. Following this Occupational Health will review the 

requirement for non-operational staff Lite courses. 

 

FITNESS: 

The Service are in consultation with the Fire Brigades Union regarding the 

Firefighter Fitness Service Instruction. This document has been agreed 

with Fire Officers Association (CFOA). Meetings are planned for w/c 

21/08/17 and we are looking at agreeing the Service Instruction to the 

maximum extent.  

We are looking to develop a network of Fitness Advisors in the Service 

cascading from the Service Health and Fitness Advisor to Service PTAs to 

Station/Watch based fitness advisors/champions. 

Following agreeing the Service Instruction the Occupational Health 

Physical Training Assessor (PTA) Team will commence planning the roll 

out of the new Firefighter Fireground Fitness Test to ensure familiarity 

with this before commencing to formally use this as an assessment tool. 

The Chester Step Test will remain the primary test of fitness in the 

Service Health Screenings at present, with the option for staff to have the 

Chester Treadmill Walk Test with a PTA. 

 

COLLABORATION: 

The Service Occupational Health Manager is the Chair of the CFOA 

Northern Regional Fire and Rescue Service Occupational Health (OH) 

Group and of the new Liverpool City Region Combined Authority OH 

Group. These Groups bring together Fire Services and local authorities in 

forums that review collaboration and sharing best practice and 

information in the area of OH. 

 

 

P
age 24



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

10 

 

COMMUNITY RISK MANAGEMENT:  

PEOPLE: 

FP-17/18-4.1- 
Proactively engage with internal and external stakeholders and partners to identify and assess risk, in 

homes and communities delivering interventions, promoting fire safety and community safety.  

Actions: 

• Continue to deliver the Home Safety Strategy for 2015/18. All visits are supported by 

the appropriate data to ensure we “make every contact count” including the use of 

the Exeter Data and Customer Insight.  

• We will embed a robust and sustainable telephone revisit strategy (including targets 

for cost recovery).  

• All processes will be Quality Assured and the necessary safeguards are put in place 

including staff training (for crews, advocates and volunteers).  

• Continue to explore innovations in the marketplace such as smoke detectors, deaf 

alarms, isolation switches and assistive technology (digital) as part of our risk 

reduction strategies.  We will support all Fire Kills and CFOA PPRS campaigns (this 

activity will be coordinated by the Prevention Directorate in conjunction with 

Corporate Communications.  We will continue to explore all forms of social media to 

raise awareness on all aspects of Prevention and Home Safety.  

• All serious fires will be followed up by community reassurance campaigns. We will 

also specifically give regard to vulnerable persons in the merger areas during this 

year. 

• As an extension to the Home Fire Safety Check, advocates will pilot the introduction 

of the Safe and Well Visit.  

• We will develop a multi-agency hoarding strategy. 

We continue to deliver against the Home Safety Strategy and see a 

continued downward trend in Accidental Dwelling Fires in the Home, in 

addition there were no accidental fire deaths in Quarter 1.  

 

Our focus very much remains on utilising Exeter Data (over 65’s).  

However during June this performance figure may dip slightly due to the 

high number of community reassurance campaigns which have been 

delivered across Merseyside (post Grenfell Fire response).  

 

Advocates are supported via a quarterly Continuous Professional 

Development (CPD) day which covers case studies, peer learning and 

external partner presentations.  

 

Safe and Well has been introduced and are being delivered by advocates 

only – launched on 28th April.  

 

Fire Service Direct continue to support the delivery of advocate workload 

by managing referrals for staff to maximise productivity and efficiency. 

Feedback from partners has been welcomed due to the improvement in a 

single gateway.  

 

We will continue to support National Fire Chief’s Council and Fire Kills 

campaigns – our focus will continue during the Quarter 2 Period – 

“Knowing your neighbour”.  

 

Improvements have also been made in Incident Reporting System with 

Watch Managers.  
 

FP-17/18-4.2- 

Our Prevention work contributes to protecting vulnerable people, we recognise that fire 

has a socio-economic dimension and as such we have a strong commitment to equality and 

diversity. We recognise the Equality Objectives set by the service and that Merseyside has a 

number of social challenges and how those challenges can place additional stresses on 

individuals and communities.  

 

Actions: 

• We will develop Strategic Alliances with AGE UK and other partners to assist in the 

 

We have done extensive work following the Mather Avenue Fatal Fire with 

partners and stakeholders (particularly Adult Safeguarding leads) to 

identify vulnerability, including hoarders.  

 

All advocates have been re-designated vulnerable persons advocates, we 

continue to upskill staff during Continuous Professional Development 

(CPD) days around key themes.  

 

P
age 25



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

11 

 

identification of Vulnerable Persons. 

• We will re-examine all of our data sharing protocols to ensure they are fit for 

purpose and current to ensure that we are making the correct interventions.  

• We will mainstream aspects of the Vulnerable Persons Team across all 4 Prevention 

Hubs. 

• We will develop and enhance our own staff in key specialist areas such as ageing, 

dementia and mental health.  

• We will work with Directors of Public Health to support campaigns for alcohol, 

smoking cessation and exercise.   

 

Extensive work has been done with Directors of Public Health in the 

implementation of safe and well visits for advocates (alcohol and smoking 

cessation brief interventions are included in the visit).  

 

 

 

PLACE: 

FP-17/18-4.3- 

Reflecting the emphasis of Anti-Social behaviour, The Crime and Policing Act 2014. The 

Directorate acknowledges the need to put vulnerable people and communities at the heart 

of everything it does.  This means a move towards a more intelligence led service that looks 

to intervene much earlier to prevent escalation and to reduce demand on services.    

Actions: 

• We will produce an Arson/ASB Reduction Strategy. 

• We will continue to develop seasonal plans to reduce anti-social behaviour fires. 

• We will work with partners to reduce the threat, harm and risk of arson.  

• We will work closely with the Police Crime Commissioners Office and Community 

Safety Partnerships on shared priorities and objectives. Our response will be 

measured and proportionate. 

 

The Arson team has developed a strategy which adopts a risk based 

approach towards deliberate fire setting understanding the local 

intelligence picture using the Police’s Threat, Harm and Risk matrix. The 

aim is to be people, place and premises centric delivering community 

reassurance in the high demand wards across the Merseyside. We will 

look to collaborate with Merseyside Police, Local Authorities and 

Community Safety Partnership partners to set clear objectives to 

Prepare, Prevent, Protect and Pursue in our duties of arson and ASB 

reduction.  
 

The Arson Team’s main seasonal priority is Bonfire period. Seasonal 

campaigns are delivered to meet the needs of the local communities such 

as St Helens Stay Safe. MFRS Grassland fire presentations are delivered 

to schools in known hotspots.  MFRS also manage spate incidents in 

specific areas along with incident types and work closely with Merseyside 

Police. Operation Brookdale deals with scrambler bike incidents and 

Operation Milner deals with incidents in the Wavertree/Picton area. Arson 

Officer Graham Morgan has been working in partnership with the Police 

to devise a media campaign for scrambler bikes and the known ASB 

issues linked them such as fires etc.  The campaign is being delivered in 

5 Sefton schools with the backing of the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

 

It is intended that Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service and Merseyside 

Police will work in a collaborative nature and deliver 12 monthly Multi 

agency campaigns in High Demand wards targeting the most vulnerable 

P
age 26



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

12 

 

people in the most vulnerable areas. MFRS and MERPOL will work closely 

with the local authority, ward councillors, housing associations, waste 

recycling companies and other partners to deliver the best possible 

outcomes effectively with the resources available. 

 

The Arson team has recognised our partners’ priorities and developed 

Community risk management routes, a deliberate vehicle fire initiative 

and now tag specific incidents relating to OCG and domestic abuse to 

assist partners with interventions and data recording. 

 

FP-17/18-4.4- 

Reflecting the emphasis of Road Safety, The PCC’s Police and Crime Plan 2017/21. The 

Directorate acknowledges that road safety is a key partnership priority impacting on both 

community safety and economic growth. This means a move towards more intelligence led 

interventions that improve road safety and reduce demand on services.  

Actions: 

• We will produce a Road Safety strategy. 

• We will work with partners from the Merseyside Road Safety Partnership and CFOA 

to improve road safety through education and restorative justice. 

• We will explore the use of emerging technologies and social media to improve road 

safety marketing and engagement. 

 

The Liverpool City Region Road Safety Strategy 2017-2020 was published 

28/7/17. Working in partnership to improve Road Safety has been set as 

one of the Police and Crime Commissioner's 5 key priorities. The road 

safety department are working on developing a road safety strategy 

which will predicate on this document. It will ensure that the traditional 

road safety 3 E's (Education, engineering and enforcement) are included 

in activities, with monitoring and evaluation of both internal and 

externally supplied data included to deliver the strategy.  

 

Collaborative work between MFRS and members of the Merseyside Road 

Safety Partnership (MRSP) to deliver our strategy in line with the 

Liverpool City Region (LCR) road safety strategy and the thematic areas 

identified via killed and seriously injured data (KSIs). This will involve 

joint campaigns and events, supported by advocates, crews and 

volunteers. We deliver restorative justice sessions to both Liverpool and 

St Helens Youth Offending Schemes (YOS) and are exploring options to 

expand this to other areas. In the last quarter (April-July) we have 

delivered to over 1480 people, including YOS, Princes Trust teams, 

secondary and higher education institutions. 

 

Successful recruitment of a partnership funded communication and media 

officer who will deliver social media and campaign communication on 

behalf of the road safety partnership and the Community Risk 

Management (CRM) directorate. This post will involve close workings with 

both MRSP and CRM to ensure safe and well communications are 

delivered in a timely and relevant method, to serve both the community 

and also to celebrate and inform on the work we have delivered. We are 

purchasing virtual reality technology which will evolve in collaboration 

with other FRS and the thematic areas to deliver safety education and 

engage the community. 

 

P
age 27



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

13 

 

FP-17/18-4.5- 

Reflecting the emphasis of Water Safety, The National Water Safety Strategy Plan 2016-26. 

The Directorate acknowledges that Merseyside has a large number of water related risks. 

We will work with partners to move towards more intelligence led interventions that 

improve water safety and reduce demand on services.  

Actions: 

• We will produce a Water Safety Strategy. 

• We will work with partners to establish a Water Safety Partnership/Forum. 

• We will explore the delivery of water safety education. 

 

The National Water Safety forum, UK drowning prevention strategy will 

be utilised along with assistance from other FRS to develop a water 

safety strategy for MFRS. The water safety strategy will highlight some of 

the significant risks we have on Merseyside and also the work planned to 

help reduce the demand placed on the organisation.  

 

A water safety forum will be established with key partners (Merseyside 

Police, North West Ambulance Service (NWAS), Royal National Lifeboat 

Institute (RNLI), Royal Life Saving Society (RLSS), Local Authorities and 

Peel ports) to develop collaborative working to reduce water related 

incidents, injuries and deaths. Marine Fire rescue staff have been briefed 

and will be utilised to provide knowledge and input. 

 

We will develop water safety packages to be delivered to our 

communities via a range of initiatives in collaboration with our partners 

both regionally and nationally. We will align delivery with national 

campaigns and locally identified trends. We are purchasing virtual reality 

technology which will evolve in collaboration with other FRS to deliver 

safety education and engage the community. During water safety and 

drowning prevention week MFRS marine rescue unit hosted daily visits by 

schools where a structured programme was delivered. This was 

supported by colleagues from Merseyside Police, HM Coastguard, RLSS 

and RNLI. Over the week over 150 people, including school children, 

teachers and parents, were engaged with, receiving water safety and 

drowning prevention information. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 28



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

14 

 

PREMISES:     

FP-17/18-4.6 – 

Operational Fire Safety 

 

Actions: 

• Develop and embed the Simple Operational Fire Safety Assessment (SOFSA) further 

through blended training, coaching and the introduction of Protection Hubs. 

• Deliver training exercises in conjunction with ops preparedness and ops response in 

premises with fire engineered solutions and heritage status. 

• Enhance the protection WM role in providing tactical advice at operational incidents, 

assisting in peak hours inspections and dealing with serious fire safety complaints out 

of office hours.     

The Risk Based Strategy (RBS) has been fully reviewed using a 

comprehensive range of statistical information and engagement with 

protection personnel. The strategy has been fundamentally updated and 

is currently undergoing final communication with Fire Safety Inspectors 

pending full implementation. 

 

The development of partnerships is an integral component of the revised 

RBS. MFRA already have an information sharing Memorandum of 

Understanding (MOU) with Merseyside Police and we are currently having 

ongoing dialogue with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and Local 

Authority Partners through the Liverpool City Region Better Business for 

All (BBfa) Partnership. 

 

Fire Safety information has been extensively shared throughout the 

organisation in light of the high rise inspections following the Grenfell 

Tower fire. We are working closely with Ops Preparedness and the ICT 

development team regarding the replacement system for SSRI to ensure 

that Fire Safety information can be easily added for access by operational 

personnel. 
 

FP-17/18-4.7 – 

Risk Based Inspection Programme 

 

Actions: 

• Review the Risk Based Inspection Programme to target risk more effectively. 

• Develop partnerships with other Regulators to share data and intelligence. 

• Improve the communication of fire safety information between functions within 

MFRS.    

  

This is really progressing well. To date there have been 4 meetings and 

MFRS have provided administrative support to the group. A launch event 

for senior officers of all regulatory authorities’ is being planned for 

Autumn 2017. 

 

Business Safety Advisors have ran a campaign in Sefton targeting fire 

safety in holiday let accommodation and have been heavily involved in 

the checks on the 198 High Rise Residential blocks in Merseyside. 

 

Opportunities are still being explored and we are currently assessing the 

viability of a Primary Authority Partnership with Norton’s, a waste 

recycling operator. Unfortunately our lead Primary Authority Officer has 

recently left the organisation therefore we will need to build further 

capacity and expertise in this area. 
 

FP-17/18-4.8 – 

Better Business for All 

 

Actions: 

Simple Operational Fire Safety Assessment (SOFSA) training has largely 

been completed across the organisation with only a few remaining 

sessions required for WM’s who were unavailable during the training 

period. Capacity to embed the initial training provided has been severely 

limited due to the High Rise campaign following Grenfell and only having 

P
age 29



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

15 

 

• Work with Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) to develop a 

Merseyside wide Better Business for All Partnership (BBfa). 

• Use Business Fire Safety Advisors to assist responsible Persons to provide a safe 

environment for their customers and employees. 

• We will review opportunities to increase participation in Primary 
Authority Partnerships. 

2 Watch Managers to support operational crews. 

 

A cross departmental table top exercise involving Heysmoor Heights has 

been undertaken. Further training exercises are currently being planned 

with Museums Liverpool in advance of the exhibition of the Terracotta 

Army and a practical high rise residential. 

 

This objective has been severely restricted as the team is only operating 

at 50% capacity with 2 Watch Managers. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

YOUTH ENGAGEMENT: 

FP-17/18-4.9 

Develop a Youth Engagement Strategy 

 

Actions: 

• We will produce a Youth Engagement Strategy which sets out our Youth Engagement 

Programmes  for 2017-18 

• Develop a sustainable funding plan that explores a wider range of public and private 

sector funding opportunities in order to secure sufficient medium term funding to 

support and sustain  greater stability within our Youth Engagement Teams and 

Programmes 

• Complete a review of delivery to ensure SEN and disabilities are receiving sufficient 

considerations and work towards removal or reduction of barriers to encourage 

inclusion. This will include the purchase of a specially adapted minibus. 

Discussions have been held to consider the criteria for the Youth 

Engagement Strategy – on-going. 

 

A Youth Engagement (YE) Funding Strategy is being explored and 

includes researching Local Enterprise Partnerships, Public & Private 

Sector funding, Bid Writers, Marketing & Charitable status – on-going. 

 

The YE department endeavour to conscientiously ensure all YE 

programmes are assessable to all and considerations are given to each 

child or young person who has a statement of Special Educational Needs 

or a disability to encourage inclusion.  Adaptions have been made to 

uniform & resources to enable inclusivity.  At this time 3 YE minibuses 

are going through an asset refresh which may offer an opening to be able 

to purchase an adapted minibus however; a decision has not been made 

if the capital assets budget will support this – on-going 
 

P
age 30



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

16 

 

FP-17/18-4.10 

Enhanced integration within the function of Community Risk Management 

 

Actions: 

• Develop and embed Safeguarding for Young People into the wider CRM 

Safeguarding Strategy. 

• Embed the role of volunteers into the delivery of Fire Cadets and ensure the 

volunteers are suitably trained and supported. 

• Incorporating Firekills messages and using the information packs appropriately 

and  ensuring relevant messages are shared more broadly. 

• Explore opportunities to enhance the reduction of Arson and ASB by young 

people 

Volunteers are now embedded on all Fire Cadets units and all have 

competed an induction process.  Collaboration between Fire Cadets & 

Community Risk Management volunteers is being deliberated to 

encourage cross working opportunities to work together across 

Merseyside. 

 

On receipt of a Fire Kills message, YE endeavour to facilitate a session to 

promote a safety message using a proposed theme. 

 

Opportunities are being explored to inspect how we can engage utilising 

information,  advice and guidance with those children and young people 

involved in MFRS initiatives to reduce the number of incidents relating to 

deliberate fire setting and anti-social behaviour. 

    

We have recently held talks with Prince’s Trust and conversed about 

introducing the employment “Get Started” programme – a proposed 

funded course will commence in February 2018.   

 

MFRS has forged a strong relationship with LFC Foundation and have 

supported opportunities to utilise sport to engage with young people who 

may be involved in causing problems within communities.  At LFC 

Foundation events and in collaboration with Street Doctors a registered 

charity who attend and deliver sessions to high risk young people by 

giving them the skills they need to deliver life-saving first aid.  

YE adheres to a positive recruitment strategy and has forged strong 

relationship with Disability groups, Asylum Link & Autism Together – YE is 

diversely well represented. 
 

FP-17/18-4.11 

Explore collaboration opportunities with Merseyside Police Youth engagement 

Actions: 

• Explore opportunities to develop targeted Youth and Community programmes in 

partnership with other agencies concerned with improving the life of young 

people. 

• Explore opportunities to maximise engagement with children and young people 

from all diverse groups; 

• Explore opportunities to streamline the cadet recruitment  and participate in the 

National Emergency Services Cadet Programme 

MFRS are currently supporting the youth HIVE on the Wirral, to engage 

and educate young people on subjects that have and will include: water 

safety, road safety, fire safety.  This partnership will continue to develop 

and improve the lives of many young people (young people age 8-18).  

Prince’s Trust Team Programme will shortly be run from the HIVE, and 

staff will link in with partners in the area to ensure that the 12 week 

programme is run in partnership with other agencies to increase self 

esteem, employability skills and life skills (young people age 16-25). 

 

MFRS will continue to access funding to develop youth programmes (eg. 

Beacon Course/LIFE Programme/Achieve Programme)  to target specific 

groups of young people (eg. involved in ASB, disaffected, socially 

isolated) with the aim of encouraging them to become responsible 

citizens wanting to contribute to society to develop themselves through 

P
age 31



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

17 

 

education & engagement in a wide range of activities that are unique to 

the fire service.  

 

The Fire Cadets currently work in partnership with a range of partners 

who have a joint aim of improving the lives of young people and to 

enable young people to make positive choices.  These partnerships 

continue to develop and examples of partners currently include: Evolve 

(drug awareness) Brook (Internet Safety, Diversity, self esteem) British 

Red Cross (1st aid), Maritime Museum (gun & knife crime) Al Russo (Hate 

Crime).  
 

 
MFRS’s Street Intervention Team (SIT) have become part of a consortium 

called VOSS.  VOSS work together to effectively co-ordinate youth 

activity across Liverpool North to ensure there isn’t a duplication of 

services. In addition, the VOSS work in partnership to ensure that there 

is a range of youth activity to ensure that all ages/ethnicities/genders 

within the youth community are provided for.  In addition to the VOSS, 

the SIT are represented at local Disarm Partnership meetings (Kirkdale, 

Anfield & Everton).  At these meetings, emerging issues are discussed 

and actions are agreed to ensure that organisations are meeting the 

needs of the community and supporting young people. Often joint 

working is involved which makes good use of organisational resources.  A 

good example of this is the request from local partners (police, 

councillors, registered providers, youth centres) for MFRS’s to use our 

climbing wall to support numerous community events – which attracts 

many young people and families and encourages community 

cohesion.  The police regularly book our climbing wall and attend the 

climbing wall events with the SIT Team.  The police have commented 

that many of the young people we engage with at these community 

events are young people that they often have difficulties with in the 

community, so the climbing wall events give the police the opportunity to 

chat informally to the young people in a different/more positive capacity. 

 

The Princes Trust Programme actively recruit young people from diverse 

groups within the community, specifically areas of 

deprivation/unemployment/with disabilities/asylum seekers.  This 

ensures that all diverse groups are represented to ensure a good mix of 

age/gender/ethnicity/disability is achieved. 
 
Cadet recruitment has been streamlined to the point that there is no 

active recruitment for existing cadet units as there is so much general 

P
age 32



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

18 

 

interest.  The reason for this is that on top of the day to day enquiries, if 

we were to actively recruit, we would be giving young people false hope 

as there aren’t the vacancies to recruit more cadets.  Cadets can 

theoretically start from the age of 13 and leave at the age of 18, so 

interested young people can often be on a waiting list for long periods of 

time.  When we open up new cadet units, cadet recruitment is 

streamlined in that we liaise with the station manager to ensure all local 

partners and local schools are contacted to promote the unit, to ensure 

that young people from a variety of organisations are involved. In 

addition to this, MFRS social media is used to inform the community. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 33



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

19 

 

FINANCE:    

FP-17/18-6.1- 

Maintain and update the Authority on the progress of implementing the  

approved financial plan, and in particular any savings proposals. 

Actions 

• Identify the dynamic saving target on the financial system for any saving option that 

has not been formally implemented 

• Implement all saving options for which the known structural changes have been 

approved 

• For 1. – to action any structural changes as and when they are known 

• Monitor actual spend throughout the year to the profiled amended budget and 

identify any potential variances 

• Seek remedial action if 4. occurs 

• Report to Authority on a quarterly basis the progress being made. 

The qtr 1 financial review report (April – June) will advise Members that 

all saving options are progressing as planned. The financial forecast will 

be neutral at this point in the year, although significant risk exists around 

the firefighter pay increase assumption of 1 % for 2017/18. Future 

financial review reports will continue to update Members on progress 

throughout the year. 

FP-17/18-6.2- 

Review the year-end closure of accounts process in order to meet the  

Revised statutory deadline at the end of May (previously June) for  

completing the Statement of Accounts 2017/18.   

Actions: 

• Review closure of accounts process / timetable for 2016/17 and identify ways of 

reducing time period. 

• Look to use guesstimates when possible 

• Identify all areas that are dependent upon external resources providing information 

and engage with them to ensure early production of information is achievable 

• Ensure quality of work is maintained and accounts are not qualified 

2016/17 Statement of Accounts delivered ahead of the required statutory 

deadline and within the proposed deadline set for 2017/18 of the end of 

May. This confirmed that the proposed year-end process appears to be 

able to meet the required deadline for 2017/18. 

 

Action closed. 

FP-17/18-6.3- 

Support the Fire and Police Support Service Collaboration tea in production of any business 

plans and options evaluation. 

Actions: 

• The joint support services collaboration team will identify the overall strategy and 

finance staff will make themselves available to feed into the process as required. 

• Depending on the demands/timing of input from senior finance staff will dictate if 

“backfilling” of posts within the team is required. 

• Additional technical support and advice may be required and therefore funds will be 

established to support the procurement of such advice and 2. Above. 

• The task will require the collection, validation of financial information,  

• modelling of costs and saving options, and consideration on how the services  

• are procured in the future in terms of charging, funding of any special  

• delivery vehicles, ownership of assets and adherence to regulation and  

• statutory requirements. 

Process ongoing. Report on Support Service Collaboration going to 

Members for consideration. 

P
age 34



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

20 

 

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES:   

FP-17/18-7.1- 

To create a Website Page specifically for Authority Members, to enable easy  

access to relevant information from one place. 

 

Actions: 

• To identify information that would be beneficial for Members to have access to. 

• To liaise with the Portal Team to identify the best way of incorporating this 

information into a Portal Page secure part of the Website specifically for Members, 

allowing access to all information of relevance from one place.  

• Once this page is established, hold training for Members to demonstrate the Portal 

Page, to assist them with accessing appropriate information independently.  

 

Work has commenced to identify the information contained on the Portal, 

which would be useful for Members to have access to.  

 

This will be discussed at the next meeting of the Authority’s Member 

Development & Engagement Group, to obtain Members input on 

requirements.  

 

Once agreed, discussion will then take place with the Portal Team, to 

identify the most appropriate way of providing Members with access to 

the information.  
 

FP-17/18-7.2- 

To continue improving Authority Member engagement with all groups of staff and increase 

the awareness of all employees to the role of the Authority and the Members who are 

appointed to it. 

Actions: 

• Continue with a schedule of Members station visits, to provide opportunity for 

station based employees to meet with; and pose questions to Authority Members; 

and to increase their awareness of the role of the Authority and its Members. 

Consideration is to be given to improving the format/ structure of these events.  

• To continue with a series of “Staff Engagement Days” enabling non-operational 

staff to meet with Authority Members to raise awareness of the raft of work 

undertaken by non-operational staff; and for staff to increase their awareness of 

the role of the Authority and its Members.  

• To continue to work with the Corporate Communications Team to arrange for the 

inclusion of articles in the “Hot News” regarding Authority Members, in an effort 

to raise the profile of Members with all employees.  

• To continue to identify new ways in which Authority Members can improve their 

engagement with all groups of staff; and raise the profile of the Authority. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A significant amount of work has continued with regards to Authority 

Member Engagement with all groups of staff.  

 

• Articles on Authority Members, are now standing items within 

editions of the “Hot News”.  

• Members have participated in visits to Fire Control to engage with 

Staff. These visits worked particularly well, as they enabled 

Members to have meaningful engagement with Control Staff, in 

small groups, on a rotational basis. Not only did this format allow 

for meaningful engagement, it also provided Members with an 

opportunity to experience the role of a Fire Control operator first 

hand and to observe call handling activity and the technology 

utilised to deploy Authority’s assets to incidents.  

• Members have also participated in visits to the Marine Rescue 

Unit, where they were able to engage with staff and learn first-

hand about the role of the Team, including participating in a trip 

on the River Mersey aboard Marine Fire 1!  

• Feedback received from both these engagement events has been 

extremely positive, from both Members and Staff. They have 

contributed significantly towards removing barriers between 

Members and staff and improving perceptions from both sides.  

• A further Staff Engagement Day is scheduled for September 2017; 

and it is hoped that this can be facilitated at the TDA, with some 

interactive elements included.  

P
age 35



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

21 

 

PROCUREMENT: 

FP-17/18-7.3- 

Support corporate priorities and work to ensure the successful delivery of priority work 

programmes 

 

Actions: 

• Appropriate procurement activity and subsequent contractual arrangements in 

place for the Station Change projects including: 

• Pre construction contracts 

• Build contracts 

• Consultancy contracts 

• Collateral warranties 

• 2. Appropriate procurement activity and subsequent contractual arrangements 

in place for regional contracts arising from the 3 year asset refresh plan 

 

Ongoing input to Station Change programme continues as appropriate. 

Further input anticipated now planning approval has been received for 

Saughall Massie. The regional workplan continues to deliver results – 

MFRA has recently led on regional contracts for gas tight suits and 

helmets and will lead on the imminent contract for structural fire coats 

and over trousers. 

FP-17/18-7.4- 

Identify efficiencies and implement improvements in procurement activity. 

Actions: 

• Focussed spend analysis on a local and regional level. 

• Reduction of supplier base. 

• Increased levels of pro active contract management  

• Formation of Procurement/Finance task group and agreed deliverables arising from 

the group 

 

  

The National Fire Chiefs Council FCTP recently commissioned a Bravo 

spend analysis project. The NW is waiting for future direction re national 

initiative before further developing regional arrangements. The 

Procurement/Finance task group meets regularly to discuss issues and 

opportunities. 

 

LEGAL: 

FP-17/18-7.5- 

To provide an improved legal service to fire stations in the community. 

Actions: 

• Review of station visits already undertaken has been done and some changes are 

under discussion 

• Programme of visits to further watches/stations  to give information and advice to be 

planned over 2017 

• Ensure team competent at presentations  
 

 

 

 

 

  

Ongoing  - we have identified rooms in some stations however we are 

planning to consider what information and advice as well as combining 

this with other issues. 

 

The team have presented previously and are getting more experience 

 

 

P
age 36



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

22 

 

FP-17/18-7.6- 

To continue to provide timely legal support throughout the current station mergers project 

and any future projects particularly with regards to: risk and insurance, contractual and 

commercial arrangements, potential challenges eg. Judicial Review, Land and Title issues. 

Actions: 

• JH to feedback from the Strategic Project Group. 

• Regular liaison between Legal Team and Project Managers. 

• Respond to all queries in a timely manner. 

• Ensure an appropriate level of knowledge and expertise in the team. 

 

This continues into 2017. Feedback is provided and there are regular 

meetings with estates. 

 

LEGAL, PROCUREMENT & DEMOCRATIC SERVICES:   

FP-17/18-7.7- 

Legal, procurement and democratic services will together  provide advice, training and 

development to all departments and fire stations as identified and required 

 

Actions: 

• We will consider our resources to provide ongoing dialogue with fire stations in 

the most appropriate format we can achieve. 

• We will identify some issues for the purposes of this objective and will keep 

these under review 

• We will request feedback to ensure that we can give appropriate and timely 

advice, training and development as may be required 

 

This is under discussion to identify relevant issues 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 37



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

23 

 

 

STRATEGY AND PERFORMANCE:   

FP-17/18-5.1- 

Continue to embed Equality and Diversity excellence into the organisation. 

Actions: 

• Equality and Diversity remains a key focus for the organisation and good progress 

has been made in recent years. Priorities for 2017/18 are: 

• Work with training and development staff to implement the on-line equality and 

diversity training package that was developed in 2016/17.  

• Collaborate with partner organisations including the Police, other Fire and Rescue 

Services and the Local Government Association to: 

• Deliver effective community engagement with limited resources 

• Contribute to the development and delivery of FRS standards, peer review and 

inspection in relation to equality and diversity. 

o Investigate the benefits of unconscious bias training/engagement with 

staff in conjunction with the inclusive leadership work being undertaken 

by People and Organisational Development. 

Good progress has been made in relation to the on line package , first 

draft is due to be tested with DAG members on the 5th September  

  

Collaboration is going well with MFRS agreeing to provide Merseyside 

Police with Community Profiles data package and the Police agreeing to 

provide standard agenda items on all Community Action Group meetings 

across all districts.  

 

We have also agreed two further collaboration activities: Blue light 

services Dementia and Alzheimer's Pledge and Autism Attention Cards. 

More to be reported next quarter.  

  

We have provided feedback to National Joint Council (NJC) Inclusions 

Group on their 26 Equality and Diversity Recommendations, and we have 

fared well against those recommendations, with nearly all relevant actions 

being in progress currently through either our Equality Objectives or 

Equality and Diversity action plans. We believe that this work will support 

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabularies and Fire and Rescue Services 

(HMICFRS) in future inspections. 

  

No progress has been made around Unconscious Bias training to date. This 

will be picked up later in the year following some facilitation work with 

Operational staff around their views and understanding unconscious bias 

and workplace culture. 
 

FP-17/18-5.2- 

Develop and maintain information management systems to support change and improve 

business processes whilst improving information security and governance.    

Actions: 

• Making effective use of information systems and the Portal improves the 

organisation’s efficiency, particularly during times of budget cuts, austerity and 

change.  Progress will also continue to be made with improving information 

security and governance.  The focus areas for 2017/18 are: 

• Following successful implementation of a new approach to the management, 

procurement and in house development of corporate applications, to deliver new 

applications in relation to: 

• Operational Risk and Protection 

The first draft of the operational risk app SIRAH (Site Information Risk and 

Hazard) is near completion and will be given to 8 stations in order to 

gather feedback ensuring we continue to deliver a fit for purpose product. 

This trial will start in August although feedback from stations will continue 

to be requested throughout the remainder of the project until the 

complete application is released to all stations.  

  

Regarding the National Resilience application; we have successfully 

recruited into the roles of Business Analyst/Product Owner, and 

Application Developer. This has enabled the development of the 

application to begin. Key stakeholders are in the process of being 

identified and a number of planning sessions have taken place to discuss 

P
age 38



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

24 

 

• National Resilience Management System 

• Develop and implement a suite of business intelligence tools aimed at assisting 

staff to identify the needs and risks in their local area (in conjunction with Equality 

and Diversity and Community Risk Management), using PIPS to plan and manage 

the resulting activities 

• Continue to develop and improve information security and governance 

arrangements particularly in relation to staff training and preparation for the 

implementation of the general Data Protection Regulations in 2018. 

• Review and refresh information sharing arrangements to support service delivery 

in collaboration with partner organisations.  

 

• Consider the ways in which information can be used to evaluate the success of 

organisational services and projects 

 

priorities. Next steps are to start engaging with stakeholders to gather the 

requirements and user stories. 

  

Concerning the developing of Business Intelligence related tools, the 

Community Profiling piece of work has been developed over the past year 

and published to the Portal, along with presenting the profiles at a variety 

of meetings to demonstrate the information contained and how it could be 

utilised.  During quarter 1 the profiles were updated with additional 

analysis and mapping in relation to business types for profiling across 

Merseyside, specifically for the Protection team of CRM.  In addition to 

this, there has been the additions of benchmarking data as well as a 

section analysing the levels of disability across the districts of 

Merseyside.  The profiles are an ongoing piece of work and are regularly 

updated when new releases of demographics data are made 

available.  With regards to managing resultant activities through PIPS, 

depending on the functional plan, teams working with diverse communities 

like Prevention are able to and do use the profiles.  Feedback from their 

actions are still reporting against their department's functional plan as well 

as Equality & Diversity objectives. 

 

A working group has been set up to implement the requirements of the 

General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) by the end of May 2018.  

Information Asset Owners within functions are assisting and efforts are 

being made to collaborate with Merseyside Police and other FRS’s. 

 

There is interest in data sharing from Merseyside Councils and this work is 

being progressed. 

  

Work has begun on developing guidance materials in relation to the 

evaluation of projects. A number of presentation have been drafted 

providing an introduction into evaluation; the types of evaluation and 

when they should be considered; information gathering techniques; 

writing the evaluation. 
 

FP-17/18-5.3- 

Develop and maintain effective communications and media management  

with high quality presentation and promotion of information. 

 

Actions: 

• Effective corporate communications can enhance an organisation’s reputation, 

help prevent adverse publicity and foster effective engagement with stakeholders.  

During challenging times this is even more important. During 2017/18 we will 

The team has worked closely with colleagues and partner organisations to 

deliver communications support in relation to the launch of Safe and Well 

and positive action for recruitment as well as several campaigns such as, 

water safety, road traffic collision reduction, open days and other events.  

  

A procurement exercise to select a new design and print supplier took 

place and the new supplier is assisting with the review of corporate 

branding. 

P
age 39



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

25 

 

continue to focus on introducing effective and innovative ways to deliver high 

quality corporate communications with reducing resources.  

• We will support major projects included in the Service Delivery Plan for 2017/8 

including: 

• Safe and Well 

• National Resilience 

• Firefighter recruitment (positive action) 

• Station change/collaboration 

• We will develop and introduce a new approach to branding MFRS to maximise 

impact and create more consistency in brand application. We will provide 

resources for staff to enable them to promote the Service and brand effectively. 

• We will oversee the development of a new Service website that will enable more 

effective promotion of the Service and allow more staff to directly add content to 

the site whilst maintaining a strictly controlled branded look and feel.  

• We will work with partners to explore opportunities for collaborative work that 

will build resilience to assist the team provide a high quality corporate 

communications service with limited resources. 

 

  

A request for quotes process has taken place in relation to the new 

website and the bids are being evaluated. 

  

The impact of the Grenfell Tower fire has been significant for the team, 

with a high volume of media and government requests combining with the 

requirement to extensively communicate high rise safety messages. This 

has an impact on ongoing work. 

  

This department and Community Risk Management have successfully 

secured funding from the Merseyside Road Safety Partnership which has 

contributed to the recruitment new communications post, which will assist 

with the significant capacity issues currently experienced. 
 

FP-17/18-5.4 

Work with other functions to ensure the Service is prepared for a future FRS standards and 

Inspection programme. 

Actions: 

• Significant change is taking place in the UK FRS in relation to a move to HMI 

inspections and the development of FRS Standards. 

• We will work with other FRS to ensure that the views of MFRS are taken into account 

in the preparation of FRS standards and inspection. 

• We will work with other Functions (in collaboration with the Legal Director and 

Treasurer) of to ensure that transparency and corporate governance arrangements are 

up to date and that the Service is compliant 

 

The Service is represented at the national consultation group that is 

supporting the creation of a Professional Standards Body and other groups 

related to peer review and sector–led support. 

 

July update - Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary has been 

announced as the inspectorate for the fire and rescue service and although 

the details of the FRS inspection regime have yet to be announced, work 

has begun in MFRS to align the current Police PEEL inspection process to a 

FRS focus a as way of considering what information and evidence might be 

required by the inspectorate. 

 

Work continues to assess the policies and other governance documents 

used by MFRS to ensure that all necessary areas are covered. 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 40



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

26 

 

STRATGEGIC CHANGE AND RESOURCES 

Assets:   

FP-17/18-8.1 

To ensure that property planning is aligned to operational goals and objectives so  

that they can be realistically achieved through the estates portfolio. 

 

Actions: 

• The development and implementation of a 5 year Asset Strategy for the estate. 

• Carry out condition surveys and life cycle cost analysis across the Estate 

• Complete the re-modelling of Heswall and Formby Fire Stations to become a shared 

location with Merseyside Police 

 

 

• The 5 year asset strategy has been approved, quarterly strategic 

meetings have been arranged to progress the strategy 

• Ongoing schedule of condition surveys has been produced in line 

with the strategy 

• Heswall - new drawings have been produced following the police 

withdrawal, tender and specification document currently being 

produced 

• Formby a meeting has been arranged with the Police and Crime 

Commissioner In September to allow the scheme to progress. 
 

FP-17/18-8.2- 

To ensure that property planning is aligned to operational goals and objectives so that they 

can be realistically achieved through the estates portfolio- including co-location and shared 

use of Facilities 

Actions: 

• Play an active role in Local Authorities Strategic Property Boards across Merseyside 

to establish cross public service strategic estates group to develop a ‘one public 

estate’ approach.   

• Promote collaborative working between MFRA Estates and other Blue light 

organisations. 

• Explore, develop and deliver co-location at various locations including Headquarters 

and Workshops, 

 

• Ongoing attendance at One Public Estate meeting across the 5 

districts and the regional One Public Estate board. 

• Quarterly meeting taking place with Merseyside Police and North 

West Ambulance Service Estates Managers to ensure property and 

assets management plans align where possible. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 41



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

27 

 

Information and Communication Technology (ICT):   

FP-17/18-8.3- 

Implement an Information Communications & Technology Infrastructure that will  

enable efficiency through current and emerging technology. 

 

Actions: 

• Mobile Data Terminals (MDTs) are playing an increasing role in the effective 

management of incidents. In 2017 MFRS plan to review its existing MDT provision 

and implement an improved solution 

• The ICT Service Pipeline comprises of new ICT services under development and these 

developments lead to new or improved use of ICT Assets. Three (3) key activities this 

year are: 

• Evaluate the Mobile Phone Contract 

• Renew Anti-Virus and Web  Filtering Solution 

• Further rationalise printers and at the same time renew the existing Multi-Function 

Device (MFD) contract 

• Continue to promote collaborative working between ICT and the organisation at a 

project level especially in the area of ‘DevOps’ with the rollout of Windows 10. 

 

 

Multi-Functional Device (MFD) & printer rationalisation has proven 

successful with significant savings (c.186K over five years) being 

delivered with the award of a new contract to Konica. Rollout of the new 

MFDs will begin 9th Aug 2017. 

  

Both the Anti-Virus and Web Filtering Solutions have been renewed with 

Sophos and Forcepoint (formally Websence) respectively. The renewal 

will allow a technical refresh and the implementation of a more resilient 

solution; offering greater security measures. Implementation will take 

place over the coming months. 

  

A report on role-based resourcing has been completed and is in the 

process of being reviewed by SMG in Aug 2017. If agreed, the project will 

assign technology based on role and mobility level within MFRS. This will 

result in a leaner organisation with staff being provided with devices 

which relate to their business need. 

  

The weekly DevOps (Development Operations) team meeting remains in 

place and a new DevOps Alignment Meeting has been introduced. This 

will bring clarity of expectations on both parties and provide an 

opportunity to remove obstacles and manage resources in relation to in-

house development of applications. 

  

The Microsoft Software Asset Management (SAM) review is complete and 

only a minor licence gap in our Effective Licence Position (ELP) was 

identified. 

FP-17/18-8.4 

Respond to National Initiatives. The Service is scheduled to switch from the current Airwave 

communication system to an Emergency Services Network (ESN) which will provide 

broadband type connectivity which will allow us to utilise application type systems, 

consequently we are working to ensure the infrastructure and software systems support 

this. 

Actions: 

• Through the creation of a Project board and using project management principles 

MFRS will manage the preparations for transition to the ESN   

• Identify and manage all opportunities and risks associated with the project. 

• Ensure MF&RS in a state of readiness for transition, scheduled for late 2017 

  

 Section 31 Grants (2016-2017) received for IT Health Check, FireControl 

Upgrades, DNSP fibre connections and programme management. 

  

ICCS Upgrade. Version 7 of the Capita upgrade Proposal received and 

under review prior to Phase 1-2 start date confirmation  

  

Enrolment documents completed in readiness for provision of Emergency 

Services Network (ESN) infrastructure, Code of Connection and Devices. 

  

DNSP ordering process completed and returned to Home Office. 

  

MFRS remain on-track to deliver ESN transition in June/July 2018. 

P
age 42



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

28 

 

Strategic Change and Resources: 
FP-17/18-8.5- 

Ensure that property planning is aligned to operational goals and objectives so that  

they can be realistically achieved through the estates portfolio. 

Actions: 

• Completion of the construction of Prescot Community Fire and Police Station 

• Complete feasibility study and detailed costing exercise for the proposed new build 

in St Helens and provide MFRA with a fully costed options appraisal. Deliver the 

resultant option decision on behalf of the Authority. 

• Work with Authority officers and contractors to fully examine the “next steps”  

• following refusal of the Saughall Massie Planning application and to lead on  

• identification of all potential options. Deliver the chosen option to secure the most  

• effective fire cover for the Wirral West area 

 

1.1 Prescot  

Building work continues to progress well & is still on target for the 

anticipated completion date of 5th March 2018. 

 

1.2 St. Helens 

An alternative site has been offered by Pilkington which offers good 

response times. NWAS have expressed an interest in sharing the site for 

a ‘Make Ready’ facility & a desk top study will be undertaken when 

feasibility studies have been completed & site access is fully understood. 

MFRS is working with St. Helens Council to progress this site. 

 

1.3 West Wirral 

A revised planning application for the Saughall Massie site has been 

submitted, addressing the amenity issues that formed the basis for 

refusal of the initial application in December 2016.  However, the 

application was deferred for a site visit by Wirral Planning Committee on 

22nd June.  

 

July update – the planning application was approved on 20th July. 
 

FP-17/18-8.6- 

Manage change projects to ensure that the Authority’s physical infrastructure and Ways of 

Working are delivered in line with value for money principles 

 

Actions: 

• Complete a full business case for all areas where it is recognised that value for money 

will be realised, and/or efficiencies gained, through collaboration with Merseyside 

Police and North West Ambulance Service. The focus for 2017 will continue to be: 

• Operational Planning 

• Operational Response 

• Community Risk Intervention 

• Corporate Services 

• The collaboration team will engage internal and external stakeholders to provide 

support for the Collaboration programme and investigate future opportunities for 

joint working. 

 

No full Business Cases developed as yet, work is ongoing based on 

outline BCs: 

- Operational Planning: Layout plan has been developed for MFRS and 

Merseyside Police planning teams to collocate in same office space and 

awaiting building control approval. Costings to be developed. This will 

result in multi wired desks to enable hot desking and will complete phase 

1 with the removal of the adjoining wall. 

- Operational Response: draft Memorandum ofUnderstandings have been 

produced for the workstreams of Concern for Welfare and Missing 

Persons. Further discussion is required prior to the implementation of any 

pilot programme. 

- Community Risk Intervention: this area is being addressed via 

Community Risk management, predominantly through Arson Reduction 

and the embedding of Arson Reduction Officers within community hubs (2 

have been completed out of the 5 areas, the remaining 3 business cases 

are being reviewed). 

- Corporate Services: Following Deloitte recommendations, MFRS 

P
age 43



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

29 

 

Statement of intent and Position statements have been developed. MFRS 

and MP will undertake their own individual programmes of work for the 

ICT and Resources functions. Further work to be undertaken in the other 

functional areas (Draft Phase 3 Terms of Reference produced - Focus on 

smaller pieces of work to develop relationships and understanding 

between the two organisations). Leads for each of the functional areas 

will be identified. They will be responsible for developing a programme of 

work to achieve the objectives within their functional area. 
 

 

P
age 44



 

Glossary of Terms 

24HRWTR 24 hour whole time retained 

ADF Accidental Dwelling Fire 

AGM Annual General Meeting 

AM Area Manager 

APB Annual Pension Benefit 

ARA Analytical Risk Assessment 

ASB Anti-Social Behaviour 

BBFa Better Business for All 

C&C Command and Control 

CBT Crew Based Training 

CFOA Chief Fire Officers Association 

CFP Community Fire Prevention  

CFP Community Fire Protection 

CPD Continuous Professional Development 

CQC Care Quality Commission 

CRM Community Risk Management 

CSP Community Safety Partnership 

DCFO Deputy Chief Fire Officer 

DCLG 
Department of Communities & Local Government 

DCWTR 
Day Crewed Wholetime Retained 

DoH 
Department of Health 

DSE Disability Equalities Scheme 

E&D Equality & Diversity 

EET Education, Employment or Training 

EIA 
Equality Impact Assessment 

EMR Emergency Medical Response 

ESMCP Emergency Services Mobile Communication Programme 

ESN Emergency Services Network 

FF Fire-fighter 

FSN Fire Support Network 

FRA Fire & Rescue Authority 

FRS Fire & Rescue Service 

GDPR General Data Protection Regulations 

GM  Group Managers 

HFSC Home Fire Safety Check's 

H&S Health & Safety 

HR Human Resources  

HVP High Volume Pump 

IC  Incident Commander 

ICT 
Information Communication Technologies 

IMT Incident Management Team 

IRMP Integrated Risk Management Plan 

Page 45



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

1 

 

IRS Incident Reporting System 

ITP Invitation to Participate 

JCC Joint Control Centre 

LCR Liverpool City Region 

LFRS Lancashire Fire & Rescue Service 

LLAR Low Level Activity Risk 

LPB Local Pensions Board 

LPI Local Performance Indicators 

MAIC Multi Agency Information Cell 

MASH Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub 

MERPOL Merseyside Police 

MFD Multi Functional Device 

MFRA Merseyside Fire & Rescue Authority 

MFRS Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service 

MHFA Mental Health First Aid 

MIS Management Information System 

MORR Management of Road Risk 

MRSP Merseyside Road Safety Partnership 

NFCC National Fire Chiefs Council 

NJC National Joint Council 

NRA 
National Risk Assessment 

NRAT National Resilience Assurance Team 

NPG National Procurement Group 

NW  North West   

NWAS North West Ambulance Service 

NWFO North West Finance Officer 

NWFRS North West Fire and Rescue Services 

NWRPT North West Regional Procurement Team 

OH Occupational Health 

OIG Operational Intelligence Group 

OJEU Official Journal of the European Union 

PAS Primary Authority Scheme 

PCC Police & Crime Commission  

PID Project Initiation Document 

POC Proof of Concept 

POD People & Organisational Development 

PQQ Pre-Qualification Questionnaire 

PPE 
Personal Protective Equipment 

PPRS 
Prevention, Protection and Road Safety 

PTI Physical Training Instructor 

RBIP Risk Based Inspection Programme 

RBS  

RM1 Risk Management  1 

RNLI Royal National Lifeboat Institute 

RLSS Royal Life Saving Society 

RRRG Road Risk Review Group 

RSL Registered Social Landlord 

RTC Road Traffic Collision 

Page 46



Service Delivery Plan April-June 2017 Report 

 

2 

 

SCG Strategic Command Group 

SI Service Instruction 

SIRAH Site Information Risk and Hazard 

SIT Street Intervention Team 

SME's Small Medium Enterprises 

SMG Strategic Management Group 

SM  Station Manager 

SOFSA Simple Operational Fire Safety Assessment 

SOP Standard Operating Procedure 

SPA Safe Person Assessment 

SSRI's Site Specific Risk Information 

StARS Staff Attendance Record System 

T&C's Terms and Conditions 

TCG Tactical Command Group 

TDA Training and Development Academy  

TRM Time and Resource Management 

VPI Vulnerable Person Index 

UAT User Acceptance Test 

UKFRS 
United Kingdom Fire and Rescue Service 

WTR 
Whole-time Retained 

YE 
Youth Engagement 

YOS 
Youth Offending Scheme 

YPS 
Your Pension Service 

 

Page 47



P
age 48

T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total emergency calls  

 

Total incidents  

 

Total fires 

 

Primary fires  

 

Secondary fires  

 

Special Services 

 

False Alarms  

 

Attendance standard 

 

Sickness Absence 

 

Carbon output 
 

 

Objective: 

 

Good performance is reflected on the top bar of 

each indicator graph. We use Red, Amber, and 

Green to indicate how each indicator is 

performing. Amber reflects an indicator is within 

10% of target. 

 

 

 

 

 

INDEX 

SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN 2017-18: 

April to June 2017 

Page 49



2 

 

 

TC00 Total number of emergency calls received 
 

Service Plan Target 

 

Quality Assurance Progress to Date 6759 

 
Cumulative Performance 

 
TO00 Total number of emergency calls received 

 

DO22 The % of 999 calls answered within 10 seconds 

 

For quality assurance only 

 

 

 

TC00 

To date there have been 6759 emergency calls received at Fire Control compared to 

5820 at this time last year.  Each of the 3 months have been over target.  In April 

there were a large number of repeat calls to an incident in Netherton and most fire 

types increased in May due in part to dry weather and school holidays 

 

DO22 

97.8% of 999 calls were answered within 10 seconds by Fire Control. 

 

 

 

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

April May June July August September October November December January February March

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Performance Previous Year

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

April May June July August September October November December January February

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Previous Year Performance

BENCHMARK INDICATORS 

Page 50



3 

 

 

TC01 The total number of incidents attended 
 

Service Plan Target  

Apr-June 2017/18 

4014 Progress to Date 4285 

 
Cumulative Performance 

 
TC01 Total number of incidents attended 

 

 

 

 

TC01 

There were 417 more incidents between April and June 2017 (1293) than in the 

same period in 2016 (1274).  April and June performance was within 10% of target 

but May saw 1509 incidents against the target of 1301.  As previously mentioned 

May saw good weather and school holidays when historically fires can increase.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Performance Target Target +10% Target -10%

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

16000

18000

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Target Target +10% Target -10% Performance

Page 51



4 

 

 

TC02 Total number of fire attended in Merseyside 
 

Service Plan Target 

Apr-June 2017/18 

2226 Progress to Date 2267 

 
Cumulative Performance 

 
TC02 Total number of Fires attended in Merseyside 

 

 

 

 

TC02 

An increase in fires in May (846), the highest number since May 2011 (946), has 

resulted in this indicator being within 10% of target (2226) for the quarter (2267).  

In June the number of fires fell to 619 which is still 22 more than June 2016 but 

considerably under the target of 676. 

 

  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

April May June July August September October November December January February March

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Performance Target Target +10% Target -10%

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

9000

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Target Target +10% Target -10% Performance

Page 52



5 

 

TC03 Total number of primary fires attended 
 

Service Plan Target  

Apr-June 2017/18 

650 Progress to Date 655 

 
Cumulative Performance 

 

TC03 Total number of primary fires attended  

 

 

 

 

TC03 

There were 216 primary fires in both April and May which was within target but 

a slight increase to 218 in June means cumulatively this indicator is within 10% of 

target at the end of the first quarter.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

April May June July August September October November December January February March

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Performance Target Target +10% Target -10%

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

April May June July August September October November December January February March

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Target Target +10% Target -10% Performance

Page 53



6 

 

 

 

DC11   Number of accidental dwelling fires  

DC12   Number of fatalities in accidental dwelling fires  

DC13   Number of injuries in accidental dwelling fires  

DC14   Number of deliberate dwelling fires in occupied properties  

DC15  Number of deliberate dwelling fires in unoccupied properties  

DC16   Number of deaths occurring in deliberate dwelling fires  

DC17   Number of injuries occurring in deliberate dwelling fires  

COMMENTARY: 

 

DC11 

Accidental dwelling fires (233) are one of the fires types that fell in number during the first 

quarter compared to 2016/17 (254).  Compared to 290 in 2013/14 and 279 in 2015/16 this is a 

significant improvement in performance and a continuing downward trend. 

 

DC12 To date there have been no fatalities in accidental dwelling fires. 

DC13 Injuries in accidental dwelling fires is the only indicator over target in the dwelling fires group.  

April and June were over target.  In June there were 10 injuries however 5 of the injuries were 

in 2 incidents.  Cumulatively there have been more injuries in 2017/18 (32) than in 2016/17 

(25). 

DC14 Deliberate dwelling fires in occupied property have fallen from 44 in 2016/17 to 32 in 17/18, 

considerably under the cumulative target of 42.   There was a peak in May when there were 15 

incidents this improved significantly in June to 6 fires. 

DC15 Likewise deliberate fires in unoccupied properties have decreased from 13 in 2016/17 to 6 in 

2017/18.   

 

DC16 DC17 

There have been no injuries or fatalities in the deliberate dwelling fires to date. 

DC11 Number of accidental fires in dwelling 
 

Service Plan Target 

Apr-June 2017-18 

261 Progress to Date 233 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

April May June July August September October November December January February March

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Performance Target Target +10% Target -10%

Page 54



7 

 

 

DC14 Number of deliberate dwelling fires in occupied properties 
 

Service Plan Target 

Apr-June 2017-18 

42 Progress to Date 32 

 

DC15 Number of deliberate fires in unoccupied properties 
 

Service Plan Target 

Apr-June 2017-18 

13 Progress to Date 6 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Performance Target Target +10% Target -10%

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

April May June July August September October November December January February March

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Performance Target Target +10% Target -10%

Page 55



8 

 

Home Fire Safety Checks (HFSC’s) 

 April May June Target TOTAL 

Completed by Stations 3719 3563 3793 10643 11075 

Completed by stations, prevention staff and others 4480 4249 4748 13143 13577 

Operational fire crews are expected to use status reports to select which addresses to deliver HFSC’s to.  These 

reports identify properties where residents are over 65 and as such considered at greater risk of fire.  During the 

first quarter of 2017/18 55.7% of HFSC’s in 2017/18 were delivered to homes identified from status reports (ie. to 

homes where at least one resident was over 65). 

 

During 2017/18 to 30
th

 June operational fire crews have delivered 11075 HFSC’s.  There were 13577 HFSC’s were 

carried out by fire crews, prevention staff and the new Home Safety Advisers (who delivered 312 HFSC’s).  

Prevention staff target the most vulnerable people in our communities and they are they are delivering more 

HFSC’s than in previous years eg. in June 2017 884 HFSC’s were delivered compared to 576 in June 2016.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



9 

 

 

TC04  Total number of secondary fires attended 
 

Service Plan Target 

Apr-June 2017-18 

1576 Progress to Date 1612 

 
Cumulative Performance 

 

TC04 Total number of secondary fires attended  

 

AC13 Number of deliberate ASB fires attended  

 

 

TC04 

There were 1612 secondary fires in the first quarter of 2017/18.  This is over 300 

more fires than in quarter 1 of 2016/17.   In May there were 635 fires; this is the 

highest number of incidents since May 2011 when there were 671.   

 

AC13 

Deliberate anti-social behaviour small fires (1375) are under the cumulative 

target of 1398.  Again there was a spike in incidents in May when the weather 

was dry and schools were on holiday.  During the Easter holidays there was a 

peak in incidents around Rimrose Valley Country Park.  Consequently this area 

was targeted by ASB prevention teams and this increase in anti-social behaviour 

has lessened. 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Performance Target Target +10% Target -10%

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Target Target +10% Target -10% Performance

Page 57



10 

 

 

 

TC05  Total number of special services attended 
 

Service Plan Target 

Apr-June 2017-18 

620 Progress to Date 702 

 
Cumulative Performance 

 
TC05 Total number of Special Services attended 

 

RC11 Number of Road Traffic Collisions (RTC’s) 

 

 

 

 

 

TC05 

Special service calls have increased each month.  The main types of incident 

attended are effecting entry, ring removal, assisting other agencies and lift 

rescues.  Cumulatively there have been 702 incidents this year compared to 704 

for this period in 2016/17.  The Emergency Medical Response trial is included in 

this indicator.  

 

RC11 

The number of RTC’s attended has reduced from 144 in 2016/17 to 117 in 

2017/18.  This was 15 incidents below the cumulative target.  In line with the 

reduction in incidents there have been 47 less injuries in RTC’s.   However there 

have sadly been 2 fatalities to date. 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Performance Target Target +10% Target -10%

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Target Target +10% Target -10% Performance

Page 58



11 

 

 

 

TC06  Total number of false alarms attended 
 

Service Plan Target 

Apr-June 2017-18 

1168 Progress to Date 1316 

 

TC011  Total number of false alarms attended, discounting false alarm good intent 
 

Service Plan Target 

Apr-June 2017-18 

785 Progress to Date 872 

 
 

TC06 Total number of false alarms attended 

 

TC011 Total false alarms attended, discounting false alarm good intent 

 

 

 

 

 

TC06 

The number of false alarms attended (1316) increased compared to 2016/17 

when crews attended 1229 false alarms.  Repeat attendances continue to be 

predominantly sheltered self-contained accommodation.  Community Risk 

Management teams work closely with these premises to reduce false alarm 

calls. 

 By subtracting the number of false alarm good intent calls from the total 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

April May June July August September October November December January February March

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Performance Target Target +10% Target -10%

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Performance Target Target +10% Target -10%

Page 59



12 

 

TC011 number of false alarms attended a clearer picture of the number of incidents 

can be drawn.  Each month this incident type has exceeded targets. 

  

Page 60



13 

 

TR08 Attendance Standard – first attendance of an appliance at all life 

risk incidents in 10 minutes 

DR23 Alert to mobile in under 1.9 minutes 

 

 

 

 

 

TR08 

Operational staff attained the Attendance Standard of the first attendance of 

an appliance at a life risk incident within 10 minutes on 96.3% of occasions, 

well above the target of 90%.   

 

DR23 

Crews when being mobilised to emergency incidents went from alert to mobile 

in under 1.9 minutes on 96.3% of incidents.  This is an important part of 

ensuring the attendance standard is met. 

 

 

TR08  Attendance standard – the first attendance of an appliance at all life risk 

incidents in 10 minutes 
 

Service Plan Target 90% Progress to Date 96.3% 

 

DR23 Alert to mobile in under 1.9 minutes  
 

Service Plan Target 95% Progress to Date 96.3% 

 
 

 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

%

Month

Performance Target Target +10% Target -10%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

%

Month

Performance Target Target -10%

Page 61



14 

 

 

 

 

 

 
TE10  Total carbon output of all buildings 
 

Service Plan Target 

Apr-June 2017-18 

18.0 Progress to Date 19.1 

TD09  The % of available shifts lost to sickness absence, all personnel 
 

Service Plan Target 

Apr-June 2017-18 

4% Progress to Date 3.96% 

 
 

 

TD09 The % of available shifts lost to sickness absence, all personnel  

 

WD11 The % of available shifts lost to sickness absence per 

wholetime equivalent GREY book (operational) personnel 

 

 

WD12 The % of available shifts lost to sickness absence per 

wholetime equivalent GREEN & RED book (non uniformed) 

personnel 

 

 

TD09 

Overall sickness among all staff at 3.96% shifts lost to sickness 

absence is below the 4% target but has increased when compared to 

2.49% in 2016/17. 

 

WD11 

WD12 

Uniformed staff absence during April – June was 3.39% of shifts lost 

to sickness absence. 

Non uniformed staff absence was 4.86%, which was over target and 

considerably higher than 2016/17 when it was 2.22%.  This is due to a 

number of staff being off with long term sickness. 

 

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

3.5%

4.0%

4.5%

5.0%

%

Month

Performance Target Target +10% Target -10%

Page 62



15 

 

 

 
 

 

TE10 Total carbon output of all buildings  

 

 

TE10 

Carbon output at 19.1 from all buildings remained consistent with 

quarter 1 last year when it was 19.2.  This measurement is CO2 per 

metre per building.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

C
o
u
n
t

Month

Performance Target Target +10% Target -10%

Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



MERSEYSIDE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 
 

MEETING OF THE: COMMUNITY SAFETY AND PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

DATE: 5 SEPTEMBER 2017 REPORT NO: CFO/062/17 

PRESENTING 
OFFICER 

IAN CUMMINS 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

IAN CUMMINS  
 

REPORT 
AUTHOR: 

IAN CUMMINS 

OFFICERS 
CONSULTED: 

SMG 

TITLE OF REPORT: APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR 

 

APPENDICES: APPENDIX A:  
 
APPENDIX B: 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR APPOINTING 
EXTERNAL AUDITORS 
PSAA NOTIFICATION ON AUDITOR 
APPOINTMENT 

 
 

Purpose of Report 

 
1. The current arrangements for the Authority’s external auditor will end in 2017/18. 

Members approved the use of the LGA’s Public Sector Auditor Appointment 
Limited (PSAA) as the Authority’s ‘appointing person’ for external audit services 
for 2018/19 and future years (CFO/009/17). This report advises Members of the 
outcome of the PSAA procurement exercise and proposal to appoint Grant 
Thornton (existing Auditor) as MFRA auditor for five years from 2018/19. 

 

Recommendation 

 

2. That Members approve the appointment of Grant Thornton UK LLP (‘Grant 
Thornton’) as Auditor for MFRA for 2018/19 to 2022/23 and respond accordingly 
to the PSAA consultation (deadline 22nd September 2017).  
 

Introduction and Background 

 
3. Report CFO/071/16 sought approval from Members on the preferred option for 

the appointment of the external auditor from 2018/19 as the existing 
arrangements (Grant Thornton) would conclude at the end of 2017/18. 
CFO/071/16 is attached as Appendix A for Members information. Members 
approved using the LGA’s Public Sector Auditor Appointment Limited (PSAA) 
as the Authority’s ‘appointing person’ for external audit services for 2018/19 
and future years. 
 

4. PSAA have now completed their procurement exercise and the outcome is that 
Grant Thornton have been nominated as the Auditor for MFRA, subject to the 
Authority confirming it is satisfied with the outcome and responding  to PSAA by 
22nd September 2017. The email from PSAA on advising the Authority on the 
outcome of the procurement exercise is attached as Appendix B. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 65



 
5. Members are asked to approve the appointment of Grant Thornton as Auditor 

for MFRA for 2018/19 to 2022/23 and instruct the Treasurer to respond 
accordingly. 

 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

 
6. None contained within this report. 
 

Staff Implications 

 
7. None contained within this report. 
 

Legal Implications 

 
8. The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 abolished the Audit Commission 

and established transitional arrangements for the appointment of external 
auditors. Additional regulations, the Local Audit (Appointing Person) 
Regulations 2015 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the 
Authority to meet various requirements when determining the appointment of 
the external auditor and the Authority has met such requirements. 
 

9. This report is seeking Authority approval, however this Committee in its Terms 
of Reference has delegated powers to approve reports that would otherwise 
need Authority approval but cannot await its next meeting. (Article 12.1 (m). As 
this Consultation closes on 22nd September 2017 it is necessary to seek 
approval from this Committee. 

 
 

Financial Implications & Value for Money 

 
10. The cost of the current external audit function is £32,424. PSAA have indicated 

that on average the fee may be up to 18% lower. Therefore no increase in cost 
is expected and the contract price should at a minimum be within the current 
budget.  
 

Risk Management, Health & Safety, and Environmental Implications 

 
11. None contained within this report. 
 

Contribution to Our Mission: Safer Stronger Communities – Safe Effective Firefighters 

 
12. External audit help ensure the Authority’s internal controls and financial 

management are robust and therefore funds earmarked for fire and rescue 
operational activities remain intact. 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

  
 CFO/009/17 
 

“Arrangements for appointing external auditors” Authority 23rd February 
2017. 

Page 66



  

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

  
LGA 
 
MFRA 
 
 
PSAA 

Local Government Association 
 
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority is the physical and legal entity.  
When writing reports MFRA is the “object”.  
 
Public Sector Auditor Appointment Limited  
 
  

 
 

Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



MERSEYSIDE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 
 

MEETING OF THE: AUTHORITY BUDGET MEETING 

DATE: 23  FEBRUARY 2017 REPORT NO: CFO/009/17 

PRESENTING 
OFFICER 

IAN CUMMINS, TREASURER 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

IAN CUMMINS, 
TREASURER 
 

REPORT 
AUTHOR: 

IAN CUMMINS 

OFFICERS 
CONSULTED: 

SMG 

TITLE OF REPORT: ARRANGEMENTS FOR APPOINTING EXTERNAL 
AUDITORS 

 

APPENDICES:   

 
 

Purpose of Report 

 
1. Regulation 19 of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 requires 

that Members of an Authority meeting as a whole approve the decision for a 
sector led arrangement for the appointment of external audit for the financial years 
2018/19 onwards. Therefore this report seeks approval from Members to ratify the 
decision made by the Audit and Scrutiny Sub-Committee on 15th September 2016 
for a sector led arrangement for the appointment of external audit.  

 

Recommendation 

 

2. That Members;  
a. note the change to the arrangements for appointing external auditors for 

financial year 2018/19 onwards; and 
b. note the options considered in relation to the appointment of external 

auditors from 1st  April 2018, and,  
c. agree to sign-up to a sector led arrangement for the appointment of 

external auditors as advocated by the Local Government Association 
(LGA), and 

d. agree to sign-up to the LGA’s Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited 
(PSAA) as the Authority’s “appointing person” for the external audit 
appointment for 2018/19 and future years. 
 

Introduction and Background 

 
3. The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 abolished the Audit Commission 

and established transitional arrangements for the appointment of external 
auditors and the setting of audit fees for all local government and NHS bodies 
in England. On 5th October 2015 the Government determined that the 
transitional arrangements for local government (including fire and rescue 

Agenda Item 3

Page 15Page 69



authorities) would be extended by one year to also include the audit of the 
accounts for 2017/18.  
 

4. The Act also set out the arrangements for the appointment of auditors for 
subsequent years, with the opportunity for authorities to make their own 
decisions about how and by whom their auditors are appointed. Regulations 
made under the Act allow authorities to ‘opt in’ for their auditor to be appointed 
by an ‘appointing person’. 

 
5. The Authority’s current external auditor is Grant Thornton, this appointment 

having been made under a contract let by the Audit Commission with external 
audit fees for 2016/17 of £32,424. 
 

6. The current transitional arrangements come to an end on 31st March 2018 
therefore for the audit of the accounts of the 2018/19 financial year, there must 
be a local auditor appointed by 31st December 2017. The Authority is be 
able to appoint its own auditors if it so wishes. There are three options available 
to local public bodies for appointing an auditor under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. These are to: 
 
a) undertake an individual auditor procurement and appointment exercise; 

 
b) undertake a joint audit procurement and appointing exercise with other 

bodies, those in the same locality for example; or 
 

c) join a ‘sector led body’ arrangement where specified appointing person 
status has been achieved. 

 
Option 1: Make a stand-alone appointment 

7. In order to make a stand-alone appointment the Authority will need to set up an 
Auditor Panel. The panel will be responsible for choosing the auditor and must 
consist of wholly or a majority of independent members. Independent members 
for this purpose excludes current and former elected members (or officers) and 
their close families and friends. Under this option elected members will not 
have a majority input when assessing bids and choosing which firm of 
accountants to award a contract for the Authority’s external audit. 
 
The main advantage of setting up an auditor panel would be to allow the 
Authority to take advantage of the new local appointment regime with decision 
making at the local level. However, the main drawbacks would appear to be: 

 

• The cost and administrative effort of setting up the Panel, i.e. the 
recruitment of suitable and qualified independent panel members, deciding 
remuneration etc. 
 

• Servicing the Auditor Panel, running the bidding exercise and negotiating 
the contract. Estimates produced by the LGA indicate costs of about 
£15,000 plus on going expenses and allowances. 
 

Page 16Page 70



• The Authority will not be able to take advantage of reduced fees that may 
be available through joint or national procurement contracts. Note that the 
current procurement arrangements were very successful at driving down 
the cost of external audit to the point whereby a number of even the largest 
firms were priced out of the market. There is a real risk therefore that any 
individual authority contracts will not benefit from scale economies and 
audit firms will increase bids accordingly. 

 
Option 2: Set up a Joint Auditor Panel/local joint procurement 
arrangements 

8. The Act enables the Authority to join with other Authorities to establish a joint 
auditor panel. Again, this will need to consist of wholly or a majority of 
independent appointees. 

 
Under this option the cost of setting up the panel, running the bidding exercise 
and negotiating the contract will be shared across a number of Authorities and 
there is an opportunity for negotiating some economies of scale by being able 
to offer a larger combined contract value to the firms. 
 
The main drawbacks are: 

• Decision-making will be further removed from local input, with potentially 
only one elected member representing each organisation, depending on 
the constitution agreed with the other bodies involved. 

• The choice of auditor could be complicated where individual organisations 
have independence issues, i.e. where an auditor is carrying out work such 
as consultancy or advisory work for the Authority/Council. Where this 
occurs some auditors may be prevented from being appointed by the terms 
of their professional standards. There is a risk that if the joint auditor panel 
choose a firm that is conflicted for this Authority then the Authority may still 
need to make a separate appointment with all the attendant costs and loss 
of economies possible through joint procurement. 

 
Option 3: Opt-in to a sector led body 

9. The LGA have successfully lobbied for Councils/Fire and Rescue Authorities to 
be able to ‘opt-in’ to a Sector Led Body (SLB) when making external audit 
appointments.  An SLB would have the ability to negotiate contracts with audit 
firms nationally, maximising the opportunities for the most economic and 
efficient approach to procurement of external audit on behalf of the whole 
sector. 

 
10. The benefits of opting in are:  

 

• The cost of setting up the appointment arrangements and negotiating fees 
would be shared across all opt-in Authorities. 
 

• By offering large contract values the firms would be able to offer better 
rates and lower fees than are likely to result from local negotiation 

 

Page 17Page 71



• Any conflicts at individual Authority level would be managed by the SLB 
who would have a number of contracted firms to call upon.  
 

The LGA have set-up the Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) to 
be such a body, with the PSAA utilising the knowledge and experience 
acquired from the previous procurement process. In July 2016, the Secretary of 
State for Communities and Local Government, specified PSAA as an 
appointing person under regulation 3 of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) 
Regulations 2015. This means that PSAA can make auditor appointments for 
audits of the accounts from 2018/19 of principal Authorities that choose to opt 
into its arrangements. PSAA was originally established to operate the 
transitional arrangements following the closure of the Audit Commission under 
powers delegated by the Secretary of State. PSAA is an independent, not-for-
profit company limited by guarantee and established by the LGA 

 
11. The scope of the audit will still be specified nationally, the National Audit Office 

(NAO) is responsible for writing the Code of Audit Practice which all firms 
appointed to carry out the Authority’s audit must follow. Not all accounting firms 
will be eligible to compete for the work, they will need to demonstrate that they 
have the required skills and experience and be registered with a Registered 
Supervising Body approved by the Financial Reporting Council. The registration 
process has not yet commenced and so the number of firms is not known but it 
is reasonable to expect that the list of eligible firms may include the top 5 - 12 
firms in the country, and is likely to include the Authority’s current auditor. It is 
unlikely that small local independent firms will meet the eligibility criteria.  
 
Conclusion: 

12. The Authority will have until December 2017 to make an appointment. In 
practical terms this means that one of the options outlined above will need to be 
in place by Spring 2017 in order that the contract negotiation process can be 
carried out during that year. 
 

13. Given that the LGA have developed a sector led approach, PSAA, then it would 
seem advantageous for the Authority to opt-in to such arrangements given the 
significant benefits associated with this option:-  
 

• A sector-wide procurement conducted by PSAA will produce better 
outcomes and will be less burdensome for the Authority than any 
procurement undertaken locally. More specifically, 

• The audit costs are likely to be lower than if the Authority sought to appoint 
locally, as national large-scale contracts are expected to drive keener prices 
from the audit firms, and 

• Without the national appointment, the Authority would need to establish a 
separate independent auditor panel, which could be difficult, costly and 
time-consuming, and 

• PSAA can ensure the appointed auditor meets and maintains the required 
quality standards and can manage any potential conflicts of interest much 
more easily than the Authority, and 

Page 18Page 72



• Supporting the sector-led body will help to ensure there is a vibrant public 
audit market for the benefit of the whole sector and this Council/Authority 
going forward into the medium and long term.  

 
14. If the Authority is to take advantage of the national scheme for appointing 

auditors to be operated by PSAA for the subsequent years, it needs to take the 
decision at this meeting to enable it accept the invitation by the PSAA deadline 
of 9th March 2017.  
 

15. If the Authority accepts the PSAA invitation to ‘opt in’ to the sector led option for 
the appointment of external auditors it will be for five financial years 
commencing 1 April 2018. 
 

16. A decision to become an opted-in authority must be taken in accordance with 
the Regulation 19 of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 that 
requires the members of an authority meeting as a whole to approve the 
decision and hence why the previous decision of the Audit and Scrutiny Sub-
Committee has had to come to the full Authority meeting to be ratified. 
 

 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

 
17. Not applicable. 
 

Staff Implications 

 
18. Not applicable. 
 

Legal Implications 

 
19. The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 abolished the Audit Commission 

and established transitional arrangements for the appointment of external 
auditors. Additional Regulations, the Local Audit (Appointing Person) 
Regulations 2015 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the 
Authority to meet various requirements when determining the appointment of 
the external auditor. 

 

Financial Implications & Value for Money 

 
20. The cost of the current external audit function is £32,424. The audit fees for 

2018/19 are unlikely to be finalised until March 2018.  
 

21. If the Authority approves the recommendation to appoint future external 
auditors via the PSAA route then the PSAA will not charge a membership fee. 
The audit fees that opted-in bodies will be charged will cover the costs to 
PSAA. 
 

22. If the Authority went down the audit panel route then it would need to cover the 
cost of appointing independent members, servicing the Audit Panel, all the 
costs associated with an appointment of external auditor procurement process 

Page 19Page 73



and the costs of managing and monitoring the contract. The Authority is also 
unlikely to benefit from any saving on audit fees that are likely to be delivered 
via the PSAA being able to negotiate the audit fees for large contracts. 

 

Risk Management, Health & Safety, and Environmental Implications 

 
23. Not applicable. 
 

Contribution to Our Mission: Safer Stronger Communities – Safe Effective Firefighters 

 
24. External audit help ensure the Authority’s internal controls and financial 

management are robust and therefore funds earmarked for fire operational 
activities remain intact. 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
CFO/071/16 

 

 
“Arrangements for Appointing External Auditors” Audit and Scrutiny Sub 
Committee 15th September 2016. 
 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

  
LGA 
 
PSAA 
 
SLB 
 
NAO 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Government Association 
 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited 
 
Sector Led Body 
 
National Audit Office 

 
 

Page 20Page 74



          APPENDIX B 

PSAA E-Mail 14
th
 August 2017. 

This is a formal communication to the chief executive and chief 
finance officer of Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority to consult on 
the auditor appointment from 2018/19 

I am writing to consult you on the appointment of Grant Thornton (UK) LLP to audit 
the accounts of Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority for five years from 2018/19. 
The appointment will start on 1 April 2018. 

Background  
For audits of the accounts from 2018/19, PSAA is responsible for appointing an 
auditor to principal local government and police bodies that have chosen to opt into 
its national auditor appointment arrangements. More information on the appointing 
person scheme is available on our website. 

About the proposed appointment 
PSAA must, under regulation 13 of the Regulations, appoint an external auditor to 
each opted-in authority and consult the authority about the proposed appointment. 

Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority has opted into PSAA’s auditor appointment 
arrangements. We have sent regular email communications to audited bodies about 
this process, and wrote to you on 19 June 2017 to advise you that we had completed 
a procurement to let audit contracts from 2018/19. Grant Thornton (UK) LLP was 
successful in winning a contract in the procurement, and we propose appointing this 
firm as the auditor of Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority. 

Grant Thornton UK comprises around 4,500 employees delivering services to 40,000 
clients. The public sector has played a significant role within the firm for over 30 
years. The UK Public Sector Assurance team employs 301 people, including 29 Key 
Audit Partners, based in designated ‘centres of excellence’, providing it with locally 
based public sector specialists across the country. The team is solely dedicated to 
public audit work in local government and the NHS, with contracts with PSAA, Audit 
Scotland and the Wales Audit Office. The Public Sector Assurance team is a regular 
commentator on issues facing the sector and oversees the firm’s development of 
appropriate thought leadership and support, such as its series of publications and 
workshops on income generation in local authorities. In addition, the team can draw 
on the commercial skills and experience of a wider assurance team of over 1,516 
individuals, to reflect the changing assurance needs of local authorities and NHS 
bodies.  

In developing this appointment proposal, we have applied the following principles, 
balancing competing demands as much as we can, based on the information 
provided to us by audited bodies and audit firms: 

• ensuring auditor independence, as we are required to do by the Regulations; 
• meeting our commitments to the firms under the audit contracts; 

Page 75



• accommodating joint/shared working arrangements where these are relevant 
to the auditor’s responsibilities; 

• ensuring a balanced mix of authority types for each firm; 
• taking account of each firm’s principal locations; and 
• providing continuity of audit firm if possible, but avoiding long appointments. 

Further information on the auditor appointment process is available on our website. 

Responding to this consultation  
We are consulting you on the proposed appointment of Grant Thornton (UK) LLP to 
audit the accounts of Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority for five years from 
2018/19. The consultation will close at 5pm on Friday 22 September 2017. 

If you are satisfied with the proposed appointment, please confirm this by email to 
auditorappointments@psaa.co.uk. No further action is needed from you. 

The PSAA Board will consider all proposed auditor appointments at its meeting 
scheduled for 14 December 2017. We will write by email to all opted-in bodies after 
this Board meeting to confirm auditor appointments. 

Process for objecting to the proposed auditor appointment  
If you wish to make representations to PSAA about the proposed auditor 
appointment, please send them by email to auditorappointments@psaa.co.uk  to 
arrive by 5pm on Friday 22 September 2017. 

Representations can include matters that you believe might be an impediment to the 
proposed firm’s independence, were it to be your appointed auditor. Your email 
should set out the reasons why you think the proposed appointment should not be 
made. The following may represent acceptable reasons: 

1. there is an independence issue in relation to the firm proposed as the auditor, 
which had not previously been notified to PSAA; 

2. there are formal and joint working arrangements relevant to the auditor’s 
responsibilities, which had not previously been notified to PSAA; or 

3. there is another valid reason, for example you can demonstrate a history of 
inadequate service from the proposed firm. 

We will consider carefully all representations and will respond by Monday 16 October 
2017 by email. 

If your representations are accepted, we will consult you on an alternative auditor 
appointment between 16-27 October 2017. If your representations are not accepted, 
we will confirm this to you. You may choose to make further representations to the 
PSAA Board, providing any additional information to support your case. 

We will write to all bodies to confirm the Board’s final decision on the appointment of 
the auditor before 21 December 2017. 

Scale fees for 2018/19  
We will consult on scale fees for 2018/19 in due course and will publish confirmed 

Page 76



scale fees for 2018/19 for opted-in bodies on our website in March 2018. The results 
of the audit procurement indicate that a reduction in scale fees in the region of 
approximately 18 per cent should be possible for 2018/19, based on the individual 
scale fees applicable for 2016/17. Further information on the audit procurement is 
available on our website. 

Further information  
If you have any questions about your proposed auditor appointment or the 
consultation process, please email us at auditorappointments@psaa.co.uk. 

Yours sincerely  

Jon Hayes 
Chief Officer 

 

Page 77



Page 78

This page is intentionally left blank



MERSEYSIDE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 
 

MEETING OF THE: COMMUNITY SAFETY AND PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

DATE: 5 SEPTEMBER 2017 REPORT NO: CFO/063/17 

PRESENTING 
OFFICER 

CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 
 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

CHIEF FIRE OFFICER  
 

REPORT 
AUTHOR: 

IAN CUMMINS 

OFFICERS 
CONSULTED: 

 

TITLE OF REPORT: MANAGEMENT OF ROAD RISK - IMPACT OF THE 2017 
FINANCE ACT 2017 

 

APPENDICES:   

 
 

Purpose of Report 

 
1. To inform Members of the impact of the Finance Act 2017 on the current 

operational flexi duty staff lease car arrangement and the potential need to 
consider alternative vehicle arrangements in order to manage the road risk for 
senior officers when responding under blue lights. 

 

Recommendation 

 

2. That Members; 
  

a. note the impact of the Finance Act 2017 on the current operational lease 
car scheme, and 

b. request a further report be brought back to the Authority following 
consultation with staff and where applicable their representatives on the 
alternative options available to the Authority for the provision of vehicles. 

 
 

Introduction and Background 

 
3. Operational flexi duty officers are required to attend incidents under emergency 

response conditions. They must therefore have transport that is well 
maintained, safe to drive at speed, capable of reaching destinations safely, and 
appropriately insured.  

4. The Health and Safety at Work (etc) Act 1974 places a duty upon employers to 
ensure the health and safety of its employees and in particular the provision 
and maintenance of a working environment for employees that is, so far as is 
reasonably practicable, safe, without risks to health, and adequate as regards 
facilities and arrangements for their welfare at work.  
 

5. The Authority considered the previous essential user / lease car options 
available to flexi duty officers in report CFO/101/12 at its meeting on 31st July 

Agenda Item 5

Page 79



2012. The scheme offers a flexi duty officer a lease allowance of £3,350 p.a. 
towards the annual lease charge.  
 

6. The allowance figure reflects the vehicle specifications set by the Authority with 
regards to the management of road risk and the reduction of environmental 
impact. 
 

7. Officers can choose vehicles with a higher annual lease cost but must cover the 
increased cost themselves. A number of officers have taken this option, 
however a significant number have chosen to remain within the allowance 
figure. 
 

8. All substantive flexi duty system officers have a lease vehicle with built in covert 
lights and horns. 
 

9. The vehicles are comprehensively covered by the Authority’s motor vehicle 
insurance policy. This ensures that officers are provided with a vehicle to 
respond to all types of emergencies, safely.  
 

10. As the vehicles are fitted with covert lights and horns they are classed as an 
Authority emergency service vehicle (ESV) and deemed the Authority’s asset.  
 

11. Pre Finance Act 2017 an individual’s “cashable benefit in kind” calculation 
required by HMRC was reduced by the percentage of business miles to total 
miles driven in a financial year. In 2016/17 the average percentage business 
miles to total miles was 57%. The individual would then be taxed on the 
adjusted taxable benefit by their relevant marginal tax rate (40%). Using the 
average figures for 2016/17 the example below outlines the 2016/17 taxable 
liability for an officer on the current lease scheme: 
 

   £ 
Car Benefit (including Vat)     6,615 
Insurance         690 
Servicing          429 
Less any employee contribution      -553 
Gross Cashable Benefit    7,181 
 
Less Business Miles adjustment, -57%           -4,093 
Net Cashable Benefit    3,088 
 
Personal Tax liability (40%)   1,235 

 
12. The Fire and Rescue Service nationally was informed in July 2017 via a tax 

consultant firm that the Finance Act 2017 had removed the option to reduce the 
tax burden on any individual who uses an ESV for private mileage, and that an 
individual must now pay tax on the Gross Cashable Benefit figure. The 
Treasurer wrote to HMRC on 24th July 2017 and received confirmation on 10th 
August 2017 that this change had been introduced with effect from 6th April 
2017.  
 

Page 80



13. In the above example this would increase the personal tax liability per annum 
by £1,637 to £2,872 with effect from 6th April 2017. 
 

14. Understandably the officers who currently have a leased ESV have indicated 
they feel it may be too financially punitive for them to continue with the current 
lease scheme and as such have asked the service to explore alternative 
options with regards to the provision of vehicles. 
 

15. As a result the service has established a small working group to develop 
vehicle options. It is recognised that options may be limited due to HMRC tax 
rules. The working group will aim to report to the Authority at the meeting on 
19th October on the options available to the Authority.  
 

16. Current options under consideration are: 
 

• Continuation of the current scheme 
 

• A move to provided cars  
 

• The use of personal vehicles under the essential car users scheme 
(albeit this option is unlikely given concerns over the management of 
road risk). 

 
17. Should the recommendation be to move away from the current arrangements 

the service would need to consider what transitional arrangements can be 
introduced. 
 

18. The service are keen to ensure that the financial impact on flexi duty officers is 
minimised where possible and that the services resilience is not compromised 
by these changes.  

 
 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

 
19. None contained within this report. 
 

Staff Implications 

 
20. The service are keen to ensure that the financial impact on flexi duty officers is 

minimised where possible. 
 

Legal Implications 

 
21. The Authority must comply with all legislation including HMRC tax regulations. 

 
22. The Authority has contractual obligations with the lease company regarding the 

use and return of the lease cars.   
 

Financial Implications & Value for Money 

 

Page 81



23. The cost of alternative vehicle options will be identified on 19th October within 
the Authority report.  

 
 

Risk Management, Health & Safety, and Environmental Implications 

 
24. In addition to the increased road risk if alternative options are not implemented 

(if required) the current operational cover arrangements rely on flexi duty 
officers being able to respond to emergency calls. Any alternative vehicle 
arrangements must take this into account. 
  

Contribution to Our Mission: Safer Stronger Communities – Safe Effective Firefighters 

 
25. Outlined in paragraph 16 above. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

  
 CFO/101/12 
 

“A Review of Essential Car Use” Authority 31st July 2012.  

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

  
HMRC 
 
 
 

Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs.  
 
  

 
 

Page 82



Agenda Item 6

Page 83

This report is Restricted



Page 86

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN UPDATE APR-JUNE 2017
	Appendix 1: FUNCTIONAL PLAN UPDATE APR-JUNE 2017
	Appendix 2: KPI UPDATE APR-JUNE 2017

	4 APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR
	Appendix A: ARRANGEMENTS FOR APPOINTING EXTERNAL AUDITORs
	Appendix B: PSAA NOTIFICATION ON AUDITOR APPOINTMENT

	5 MANAGEMENT OF ROAD RISK - IMPACT OF THE 2017 FINANCE ACT
	6 Award of Regional Contract For Fire Helmets

